

Septic Acute Kidney Injury

MED-3950

5. års oppgaven – Profesjonsstudiet i medisin ved Universitetet i Tromsø

Pål S. Markali

Kull 2010

Veileder:

Professor Lars Marius Ytrebø, Institutt for klinisk medisin, Akuttmedisin og anestesiologi

Tromsø, 2015

Table of Contents

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	3
RATIONALE	3
Objectives	3
ABSTRACT	3
CHAPTER 2: THE KIDNEY, SEPSIS AND SEPTIC ACUTE KIDNEY INJURY	4
GROSS ANATOMY	4
THE NEPHRON	4
RENAL VASCULATURE AND NERVES	5
GLOMERULAR FILTRATION	5
Glomerular filtration rate	6
GLOMERULUS AND GLOMERULAR FILTRATION BARRIER	7
Podocytes	
Glomerular basement membrane	7
Glomerular endothelial cell	8
Endothelial surface layer	8
Sepsis	9
ACUTE KIDNEY INJURY	10
CHAPTER 3: METHODS AND PROCESS	10
PICOS APPROACH	
PROTOCOL AND REGISTRATION	11
ELIGIBILITY CRITERIA	11
Information sources	11
SEARCH AND STUDY SELECTION	
RISK OF BIAS	12
THE PROCESS	12
CHAPTER 4: CURRENT THEORIES AND UNDERSTANDING	12
HYPERPERFUSION IN SEPSIS – IT ALSO INCLUDES THE KIDNEYS	12
Increased and decreased Flow	13
Angiotensin II and Adenosine Triphosphate	13
Nitric Oxide Synthase	14
HISTOPATHOLOGY – ALTERATIONS TO THE KIDNEY DURING AKI	15
THE IMMUNE SYSTEM AND SEPTIC AKI	17
Inflammation	18
Microcirculatory flow	18
Tubular metabolic down regulation	
Tubular injury and GFR	19
ORGAN CROSS TALK	20
GLOMERULAR FILTRATION BARRIER AND GFR	21
Glycocalyx	23
CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION	
Further recommendations	28
DEEEDENCES	20

Chapter 1: Introduction

Rationale

Acute kidney injury, formerly known as acute kidney failure, is a syndrome characterized by the rapid loss of the kidney's excretory function. This is normally diagnosed by the accumulation of urea and creatinine, decreased urine output, or both. Acute kidney injury affects approximately 40% of critically ill patients and one third of them die within the first 90 days of admission (1). Despite the importance of this disease, no evidence-based treatment recommendations exists and the pathogenesis is debated. The concept of acute renal failure has undergone a modification the recent years. Traditionally acute renal failure has been related to ischemia and development of acute tubular necrosis. Mounting evidence suggests that acute, mild injury to the kidneys causes alterations to the urine output and blood chemistries. This could potentially have serious clinical consequences. The syndrome of acute kidney injury also includes patients without functional damage, but with impairment relative to physiologic demand. This means that AKI includes both injury and impairment. This is a more holistic approach to the clinical challenge, including patients that could benefit from early intervention. Sepsis is one of the main factors contributing to the development of acute kidney injury. Sepsis and septic shock account for approximately 50% of acute kidney injury cases in the ICU (2). Though, the pathophysiology behind this development is inadequately understood. With the intention to optimize treatment of critically ill patients in the ICU, it is pivotal to understand current research and the foundation of which the current treatment guidelines are based on.

Objectives

The overall objective of this thesis is to give an introduction to the current literature and the ongoing research on the topic of septic acute kidney injury. The aim of study is the current understanding and hypothesis of the pathophysiology of septic AKI. With an overview of existing literature, the objective is two-fold. First, to learn to collect and evaluate research papers with emphasis on literature review methodology. Second, to obtain a thorough understanding of the physiology and pathophysiology of the kidney, sepsis and acute kidney injury. Through an in-depth literature research I will try to present different views and theories behind septic AKI. First, I will review basic important concepts of renal physiology together with definitions of sepsis and acute kidney injury. Second, I will present methods of literature review. Thirdly, I will discuss key ideas on the pathophysiology of septic AKI, and lastly, possible new concepts and areas of future research.

Abstract

Systemic hypotension, renal vasoconstriction and ischemia-reperfusion injury as the mechanism behind septic acute kidney injury has been challenged. Septic acute kidney injury can occur during a hypo- and hyperdynamic circulatory state. It is associated with a high flow, low-pressure renal circulation. New histological findings indicate a lack of acute tubular necrosis and apoptosis during septic AKI, with only a minor influence of the tubular cells. Mounting evidence suggests exposure of the nephron and tubular cells to inflammatory

mediators. This could alter the permeability of the glomerular filtration barrier through glycocalyx shedding, decreased fenestrae density and increased fenestrae diameter. Alterations to the permeability could possibly activate the tubuloglomerular feedback mechanism and result in a decrease in kidney function. Further research should focus on the intergrative glomerular barrier complex, with emphasis on glycocalyx, endothelial surface layer and fenestrae. New technology like PET and nanomechanics could be beneficial in the search for the pathogenesis behind septic AKI.

Chapter 2: The Kidney, Sepsis and Septic Acute Kidney Injury

In this section I will first be giving a brief overview of the main components of the kidneys and there function. The intention is to give pertinent information to the reader unfamiliar with the kidney and its physiology, together with reinforcing old knowledge for the experienced few. The scope of this section is to elaborate on the important components involved in glomerular filtration, indicating a deep dive into molecular structures of the glomerular filtration barrier. To understand the impact of sepsis on the glomerular filtration barrier I will elaborate on definitions and give a short overview of current understanding of the pathophysiology of the disease. This thesis evolved due to the unknown pathophysiology of septic acute kidney injury. A thorough understanding of the current knowledge and evolving theories on the subject is pivotal before introducing new concepts and theories.

Gross Anatomy

The kidneys are paired organs that are situated in the retroperitoneal space on either side of the vertebral column. In an adult human the weight of the kidney is approximately 115g to 170g and is about 11 cm long, 6 cm wide and 3 cm thick (3). The medial side of the kidney is where the renal artery, vein and nerves enters and exits. This concave surface, which is called the hilus, is also where the renal pelvis exits the kidney. If cut in two, the kidney is divided into two distinct regions: the outer darker region is called the cortex and the inner paler region is called the medulla. The cortex and medulla is made up of nephrons, which is the functional unit of the kidney. The cortex and medulla is also composed of blood vessels, lymphatics and nerves. The medulla is composed of renal pyramids and the base of each renal pyramid originates at the corticomedullary border. The apex of the pyramid ends in a papilla. Every papilla lies within a minor calyx and they collect urine from the papilla and drain it into the major calyces. The major calyces stretch into the renal pelvis, which is the upper end part of the ureter. One ureter from each kidney carries urine from the kidney to the urinary bladder.

The Nephron

The basic functional unit of the kidney is the nephron. Each human has approximately 1-1,5 million nephrons (4). The nephron is a hollow tube composed of a single cell layer with a blind end forming a capsule around a knot of blood capillaries, the glomerulus. The other end forms the collecting duct system. Between the glomerulus and the collecting duct the nephron consists of the proximal tubule, loop of Henle and the distal tubule. The glomerulus has the

function of producing an ultrafiltrate of plasma. The proximal and distal tubules and loop of Henle have the function of secretion, metabolization and reabsorption of fluids and substances (3). The collecting duct system has important functions in pH regulations, ion reabsorption and excretion, together with water reabsorption (4).

Renal Vasculature and Nerves

The kidneys are supplied with blood from the renal artery. Approximately 20-25% of the cardiac output flows to the two kidneys (3, 4). The renal artery divides into two or three segmental arteries, which again branch into several interlobular arteries. These will eventually turn into afferent arterioles, which will supply the glomerulus. The glomerulus is the site of filtration of fluid into Bowman's capsule. The blood exits the glomerulus and drains into the efferent arteriole. The efferent arteriole from nephrons in the outer 2/3 of the cortex will branch into a great peritubular capillary network (4). These capillaries will surround the cortical tubular elements. The inner 1/3 of the nephrons will have an efferent arteriole that will give rise to peritubular capillaries, but also the vasa recta. The vasa recta is a capillary network lying adjacent to the loop of Henle and the collecting tubules. The vasa recta has important functions. Giving oxygen and important nutrients to the nephron segments, delivering substances to the segments for secretion, serving as a pathway for the return of reabsorbed water and solutes to the circulatory system and concentrating and diluting the urine (3). The vessels of the renal venous system runs parallel to the arteries. al axons, which accompany the intrarenal arteries and the afferent and efferent arterioles. They originates in the celiac plexus and the kidney has no parasympathetic The nerves are monoaminergic and noradrenaline and innervation (3). dopamine have been identified (5). In addition, several other neuropeptides have been found together with noradrenaline. Tubules in connection to the juxtaglomerular apparatus and the apparatus itself are densely innervated by terminal axons, more than other sites (5). Little is known about the afferent nerves of the kidney. They are believed to be sparse, but it is still an unresolved issue (5).

Glomerular Filtration

The kidney functions through filtration of plasma over the glomerular filtration barrier, creating ultrafiltrate. The ultrafiltrate consists of salts, organic molecules and a very low concentration of protein. There is also no cellular elements in the filtrate (6). In healthy adults the glomerular filtration rate, GFR, ranges from 90 to 140 mL/min for men and 80 to 125 mL/min. In 24 hours as much as 180 L of plasma is filtered by the glomeruli (6). The estimation of glomerular filtration rate is based on the concept of renal clearance. The clearance of any substance excreted by the kidney is the volume of plasma which is cleared of the substance in unit time (4). The renal clearance is used to assess the renal function in disease. The renal clearance is based on Ficks principle of mass balance relationship.

$$P_x^a \times RPF^a = (P_x^v \times RPF^v) + (U_x \times \dot{V})$$

(6)

The equation is based on substances that are neither metabolized nor synthesized by the kidney. The amount of any substances into the kidney is equal to the amount excreted in the urine plus the amount that leaves the kidney through the renal vein. It is a proportional relationship between the plasma concentration of a substance and the rate of urinary excretion. To calculate the rate of which substance x is removed from the plasma, one has to calculate the clearance. Clearance is given by the formula:

$$C_{x} = \frac{U_{x}V}{P_{x}}$$

(4)

In this formula the Cx is the clearance of substance x. Ux is the urine concentration of x, Px is the plasma concentration of x and V is the urine flow (mL/min). Measuring the renal clearance require a constant and accurate concentration of substance x in the plasma. This means that measuring the renal clearance can only be done under steady states of GFR and renal blood flow. Another challenge is that a steady flow of urine is needed for collection during the clearance period. This is not possible in conditions with oligo- or anuria (4).

Glomerular filtration rate

The GFR in the kidney is the total sum of filtration from all the nephrons. Therefore the GFR is a measurement of kidney function. A change in GFR indicates a change in kidney function. Today our most frequently used substance for measuring GFR, is Creatinine. Creatinine is a byproduct of skeletal muscle metabolism and is freely filtered across the filtration barrier (6). It is not metabolized, secreted or reabsorbed in the kidney, making it a good substance for evaluation of kidney function. Using the above-mentioned equation for renal clearance, it is possible to calculate the clearance of Creatinine and indirectly estimating glomerular filtration rate.

$$GFR = K_{f} [(P_{GC} - P_{BS}) - \sigma(\pi_{GC} - \pi_{BS})]$$

(6)

The forces influencing the filtration of fluids from plasma are the same as in all the capillary beds. The Starling forces with the hydrostatic and oncotic forces regulating the filtration rate (6). The GFR is proportional to the Starling forces that exits across the membrane multiplied with the ultrafiltration coefficient (Kf). Kf is the sum of capillary permeability and the surface area of filtration. The renal blood flow is regulated by adjusting the vascular resistance in response to arterial pressure. The auto regulation of the kidney keeps the blood flow relatively constant between arterial pressures between 90 mmHg and 180 mmHg (6). The auroregulation is controlled by two mechanisms. The tubuloglomerular feedback mechanism is a sodium-chloride dependent mechanism controlled by the macula densa and the juxtaglomerular apparatus. Another mechanism controlled by the arterioles themselves is the myogenic mechanism; the intrinsic property of vascular smooth muscle to contract when stretched. Both mechanisms regulate the tone of the afferent arteriole (6). The macula densa and juxtaglomerular apparatus regulates the afferent arteriole by increasing production of ATP and adenosine stimulating to vasoconstriction. By decreased production of ATP and adenosine together with nitric oxide

production the afferent arteriole will be stimulated to vasodilatation. Other factors that affect GFR and RBF are sympathetic stimulation, angiotensin 2, prostaglandins, nitric oxide, endothelin, bradykinin, natriuretic peptide, glucocorticoids, histamine and dopamine (6).

Glomerulus and Glomerular Filtration Barrier

The glomerulus consists of a network of capillaries arising from an afferent arteriole and the blood is drained by an efferent arteriole (7). A framework of mesangial tissue supports the capillaries. Each capillary loop consists of a basement membrane covered by glomerular endothelium and on the visceral side covered by podocytes. The podocytes possess foot processes that are separated by filtration slits, also called pores (7). These pores have a specialized diaphragm which covers the filtration slit (8). As earlier mentioned the glomerulus has the function of filtrating plasma and creating ultrafiltrate. This process is done by the glomerular filtration barrier, GFB. The barrier consists of podocytes, the basement membrane, glomerular endothelium and the endothelial surface layer (8).

Podocytes

The podocytes which is also called visceral epithelial cells, have large cell bodies and long extending cytoplasmic foot processes which support the glomerular capillary loop from the visceral aspect of Bowman's space (9). The podocytes function as vascular support cells and providing vascular growth factors necessary for endothelial health and survival (10). The podocyte foot processes are separated by filtration slits, which are cell-to-cell junctions. The filtration slit is covered by a diaphragm made up by different proteins (8). The slits are 25-60 nm wide (8, 11, 12). The slit diaphragm dictates the permselectivity on the basis of molecular size, charge and physical configuration (8, 13). Within the slit diaphragm there are small pores postulated to smaller than albumin, and thus contributing to the permselectivity of the GFB (8, 11, 12). A key feature of the podocyte that differentiates it from other cells in the glomerulus is that it is unable to replicate itself. Thus, if injured the only way to replace function is by hypertrophy of the remaining cells (12, 13). The podocyte is attached to the glomerular basement membrane by intergrins on its basal side (13). On the apical side it is strongly negative charged due to the glycoprotein glycocalyxin(10, 13). The podocyte produce structural components of the glomerular basement membrane. On its basolateral surface it also produces transmembrane proteins involved in communication with the glomerular basement membrane (10). The podocyte is a large and important part of the glomerular filtration barrier, but its direct effect on fluid restriction and protein transport is unclear (8).

Glomerular basement membrane

The basement membrane consists of a fibrous network composed of type 4 collagen, laminin, nidogen/entactin and proteoglycans (8). It is synthesized from both the podocytes and the glomerular endothelium (10, 14). The basement membrane of the glomerular endothelium is much thicker than other vascular beds (10). The collagen 4 network is considered the backbone of the GBM, but the membrane consists of large amount of proteoglycans as well. It is primarily heparan sulfate chains attached to the polysaccharide (8). The role of the GBM in

permselectivity has been under investigation for duration of time. The charge selective component of the membrane has been challenge the recent years, questioning the role of the GBM (7, 15). It is clear that defects to the membrane can cause proteinuria and nephrotic syndrome (14), so it does not rule out the GBM as a contributor to the GFB.

Glomerular endothelial cell

Glomerular endothelial cells are thin, unusually flat cells with a height of 50 to 150 nm (8). The glomerular endothelial cells are different from other epithelial cells in the fact that they are highly fenestrated. Fenestrations are round transcellular holes that goes through the endothelial cell cytoplasm (16). 20-50% of the epithelial surface consists of fenestrae and they are located peripherally in the cell (17). The glomerular fenestrae is approximately 50-100 nm in diameter (9, 10, 18). In the healthy adult the fenestrae do not have diaphragms, but this may be altered in disease and present in the embryonic stage of development (18). The glomerular endothelial fenestrae do not express "plasmalemmal vesicle-associated protein-1", PV-1 which is a component of fenestrae slit diaphragms in other endothelial cells (16). The fenestrations have been thought to not provide much restriction to the permselectivity of proteins. This is due to albumin measuring 3,6 nm, and in regards to size, indicating a free flow of albumin across the GFB. However the endothelial surface layer were explored with transmission electron microscopy by Ryan and Karnovsky (19). Studies indicated that albumin does not cross the GFB and is confined to the glomerular capillaries during normal conditions. It is now believed that the endothelial surface layer that covers the fenestrations contributes to the permselectivity (20-22). The endothelial cells have receptors for vascular endothelial growth factor A (VEGF-A) and angiopoetin that are produced by podocytes (23, 24). These mediators are very relevant for maintenance and development of the glomerular endothelium (25-28). There

Endothelial surface layer

The endothelial surface layer, which is located on the luminal side of the glomerular endothelial cell, consists of two layers; the glycocalyx and the endothelial cell coat. The endothelial surface layer is involved in blood coagulation, modulation of angiogenesis, rheology and capillary barrier function (8). The ESL is also involved in filtration of fluids and the restriction of proteins (29-31). The glycocalyx is composed of membrane-bound proteoglycans and glucosaminoglycans, such as hyalorunan, chondoitin sulfate and heparan sulfate with terminal sialic acids (31, 32). The glycocalyx is a negatively charged barrier and will therefore create a permselectivity based on charge and size, contributing to the glomerular filtration barrier (31, 33, 34). The glycocalyx extends into the lumen and its components are anchored to actin stress fibers in the cytoskeleton and are believed to transmit shear stress, a force created by the blood stream (34). The ESL also covers the endothelial fenestrations with slit diaphragm like "sieve plugs" (35). The thickness of the ESL has been debated, but with intravital microscopy the thickness of the ESL has been calculated to 200-400 nm (8, 29, 36). The cell coat is composed of plasma proteins such as albumin and orosumicoid, as well as proteins produced by the endothelium, proteoglycans, glycoproteins and glucosaminoglycans (37). The ESL is not static,

but rather a dynamic layer, constantly replacing molecules. It is not a significant boundary between locally synthesized and associated elements (38).

Sepsis

Sepsis is an old and unfortunately common disease. 2% of the patients admitted to hospital in the United States have recorded severe sepsis (39). The definition of sepsis has for a long time been debated in the medical community (40). A summary of current definitions and understanding based on the International Sepsis Definitions Conference gives the following explanations: (40, 41).

- Infection: a pathologic process caused by the invasion of normally sterile tissue, fluid, or body cavity by pathogenic or potentially pathogenic microorganisms
- Sepsis: infection, documented or suspected, and some of the signs and symptoms of an inflammatory response.
- Severe sepsis: sepsis complicated by organ dysfunction
- Septic shock: severe sepsis plus acute circulatory failure characterized by persistent arterial hypotension despite ad- equate volume administration, unexplained by causes other than sepsis

The concept Systemic Inflammatory Response Syndrome, SIRS was introduced in 1992 by the ACCP/SCCM Consensus Conference as an acronym for the complex findings that result for a systemic activation of the innate immune response, regardless of the cause (42). The SIRS criteria are:

- >38°C or <36°C
- Heart rate >90/min
- Respiratory rate of >20/min or a PaCO2 of <32 mmHg
- white blood cell count of >12,000 cells μ L or <4,000 μ L

Severe sepsis is a result of infections acquired in the community and in the hospital. The most common cause is pneumonia, counting for about half of the cases and intra-abdominal infection and urinary tract infection as the second and third most common causes for sepsis (39, 43-45). Staphylococcus aureus and streptococcus pneumoniae are the most common gram-positive isolates, and Escherichia coli, Klebsiella species and Pseudomonas aeruginosa predominate among gram-negative isolates (43, 46). In the Vincent et al study, microbiological identification results were positive in 70% of the infected patients, 62% of the positive isolates were gram-negative organisms, 47% gram-positive and 19% were fungi. In the same study the ICU mortality rate of infected patients was more than twice that of non-infected. It must be added that in only 1/3 of the cases the blood culture is positive (43, 44, 46). The pathophysiology behind sepsis and SIRS is complex and not yet completely understood. Over the years it has become apparent that an infection triggers a host response in which both pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory mechanisms work to clear the infection and contribute to tissue recovery. The same mechanisms are involved in organ dysfunction and secondary infections. (39). The specific response to the infection is dependent on the pathogen with its load and virulence, as well as the host with its genetic characteristics and coexisting illnesses (39, 40).

Acute Kidney Injury

Acute kidney injury (AKI) is a syndrome characterized by rapid loss of urine output and accumulation of urea and Creatinine (azotemia) (47). A consensus definition was made by the Acute Dialysis Quality Initiative through the RIFLE criteria (risk, injury, failure, loss, end stage) (48). From the RIFLE criteria the KDIGO criteria has emerged, being the updated international guidelines on acute kidney injury (49).

AKI is defined as any of the following:

- Increase in SCr by >0.3 mg/dl (>26.5mikromol/l) within 48 hours; or
- Increase in SCr to >1.5 times baseline, which is known or presumed to have occurred within the prior 7 days; o
- Urine volume <0.5ml/kg/h for 6 hours.

AKI affects approximately 40% of critically ill patients and one third of them die within the first 90 days of admission (1). Septic shock induced AKI accounts for approximately 50% of all the patients with AKI (2). AKI is also triggered by major surgery (especially open heart surgery) and acute decompensated heart failure (47). Particular risk factors for the critical ill patient in development of AKI are older age, diabetes, higher baseline Creatinine, heart failure, sepsis/SIRS, use of nephrotoxic drugs, higher severity of disease scores, use of vasopressors/inotropes, high risk surgery, emergency surgery, and possibly hypertension (50). The pathophysiology of septic AKI is inadequately understood. The common pathophysiological theory on the subject involves systemic hypotension, renal vasoconstriction and ischemia reperfusion injury (47, 51). The last years these theories have been challenged (52-54). New and recently proposed theories embrace dominant efferent arteriole dilatation and subsequent decrease in glomerular filtration pressure (intra-glomerular hypotension), intra-renal hemodynamic alterations (periglomerular shunting) and excessive inflammatory activation (55, 56).

Chapter 3: Methods and process

The methodology and structure of this thesis is inspired by the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-analysis: The PRISMA Statement (57). The statement has been guidance, not a fixed protocol. Due to the unknown pathophysiology of septic acute kidney injury and the controversies surrounding current knowledge and evolving theories, following a strict protocol in regards to systematic reviews has not been the scope of this thesis. My intention is to elaborate on evolving theories and discuss new key ideas on the subject, forcing through a more pragmatic approach. From the PICOS approach (57), the aim of study was identified together with population, interventions, comparator/comparison, outcomes and study design.

PICOS approach

- 1. Population/Problem
 - Key words: Human, Animal, Rodent, Primate
 - Explanation: Experimental studies on septic AKI have been performed on different animal models. Sparse human clinical data exists on the subject, but there have been done several systematic reviews, multicenter trials

etc. Since experimental animal models have such a significant value in the investigation of the pathophysiology of septic AKI, it is not beneficial to limit search and literature to one particular population.

2. Intervention/Exposure

- Key words: Sepsis, septicemia, bacteremia,
- Explanation: AKI has multiple etiologies, but sepsis is the scope of study.

3. Comparator/Comparison

• Explanation: Nothing to compare.

4. Outcome

- Key words: Azotemia and reduced urine output. Histopathology, glomerular filtration pressure, glomerular filtration barrier, glomerular endothelial surface layer, glomerular endothelial cell, intra-glomerular pressure, tubular injury, acute tubular necrosis.
- Explanation: Effect of sepsis on kidney function and development of septic AKI. Alterations to microcirculation, GFR and in particular the glomerular filtration barrier.

5. Study design

- Key words: experimental study, multicenter trial, randomized control trial, systematic reviews, observational study, and metaanalysis.
- Explanation: Every relevant study has been included, irrespective of study design.

Protocol and registration

Method of analysis and inclusion criteria where specified in advance, but a thorough review protocol did not exist. The intention was to evaluate studies concurrently with the data collection and adapt and review studies published by recognized researchers and medical journals.

Eligibility criteria

Primary search strategies focused on literature from the last 10 years, but when necessary, papers older then 2005 were included. Only literature in English was analyzed and no study designs were excluded. As mentioned briefly in the PICOS approach, due to the nature of septic AKI and current research, it was not beneficial to limit search and literature to one particular population. No restriction was made in regards of participants included. Abstracts from conferences were not included in this thesis. This was done due to inadequate study information. It was several abstracts that were relevant for the thesis, but excluded due to no publication.

Information sources

Studies were identified by searching electronic databases and scanning reference lists of articles. The following databases were searched:

- PubMed
- Embase
- Bibsys, University of Tromsøs database.

Last search: 01.05.15.

Search and study selection

The search was performed together with specialist librarian Elin Strand at Nordlandsykehuset. We searched all databases with sepsis, endotoxemia, glomerular filtration barrier, glomerular endothelium and other relevant search terms. The studies selected were based on title and abstract review. This was done independently by the author alone. Selection of articles only done by the author is a source of selection bias and ideally the study selection should have been performed independently by two or more reviewers to enhance objectivity and reduce mistakes.

Risk of Bias

It's desirable to comment on the risk of bias in this thesis. As a single author and reviewer, it is room for error. Selection bias, selective reporting within studies and inadequate knowledge of study design and methodology are the most pertinent ones. Further, the great share of single experimental studies that has been evaluated in this thesis, are potentially a great source of bias.

The Process

As part of the mandatory requirements of the master thesis booklet, I will comment on the working process. The working process can be divided into three main parts. First, theory and hypothesis discussion. Through conversations with my supervisor, Professor Ytrebø, the current theories and hypothesis on acute kidney injury was discussed, and I was enlightened on the theoretical and clinical aspects and challenges of acute kidney injury and sepsis. This began back in 2013, and over several cups of coffee the foundation for this thesis was made. In the beginning the goal was to come up with new hypothesis on the pathogenesis of AKI and sepsis, but through careful considerations, a more holistic approach was taken. The intention was to gain a deeper understanding of the medical conundrum itself, as well as to learn more about the method of literature review and data collection. Second, literature search. Together with specialist librarian Elin Strand we conducted a pragmatic search in relevant databases on different occasions. She also conducted several searches during this stage. Third, data extraction and review. Through careful evaluation of papers and data, current theories have been systemized and evaluated. Giving a deeper understanding of sepsis and acute kidney injury.

Chapter 4: Current Theories and Understanding

The common pathophysiological theory on septic acute kidney injury involves systemic hypotension, renal vasoconstriction and ischemia reperfusion injury (47, 51). The last years these theories have been challenged (52-54). In this section I will elaborate on current theories and discuss their strengths and weaknesses. I will discuss hemodynamic alterations, histopathological alterations, immune system influence, organ cross talk and glomerular filtration barrier.

Hyperperfusion in Sepsis – it also includes the Kidneys

The classical clinical and biochemical signs of septic AKI are the reduction in blood pressure, subsequent decrease in urine output together with an increased

level of Creatinine and urea. This had led to the dogma that sepsis leads to a systemic vasodilatation with subsequent fall in blood pressure. The fall in systemic blood pressure and alterations in kidney hemodynamics induces AKI and the final outcome would be acute tubular necrosis (ATN). In this section I will elaborate on recent findings that has challenged this dogma and given new insight into understanding the kidney during septic AKI.

Increased and decreased Flow

Back in 2005, Langenberg et al. did a literature review on renal blood flow in sepsis (58). The following year a controlled experimental study on septic sheep and blood flow (58, 59). The systematic review by Langenberg et al. on septic AKI showed that approximately 30% of animal studies reported an unchanged or even an increase in renal blood flow. In this review it was emphasized that previous studies had been heterogeneous in design and had many confounders. In the experimental study the following year flow probes were planted around the pulmonary and left renal artery and monitored the blood flow during development of septic AKI. Key finding in this study was increased total renal blood flow and renal vasodilatation during septic AKI. Also, despite wellmaintained renal perfusion, the glomerular filtration rate decreased. This was contrary to common belief that septic AKI developed due to inadequate perfusion. Also fractional sodium and uric acid excretion were reduced indicating a normal kidney function. This was the first continuous assessment of renal blood flow during septic AKI, and questioned the medical dogma. The follow up study by Langenberg et al. in 2007 gave an even deeper understanding of the hemodynamic alterations in septic AKI (52). Nine sheep were induced with E.coli and monitored with flow probes and intra-arterially and intravenously catheters. Again they observed a hyperdynamic circulatory state with increased cardiac output and decreased blood pressure together with septic AKI. An interesting finding was that in the recovery phase of septic AKI, the renal blood flow decreased during functional improvement despite increasing MAP. This indicated that the vascular bed could be involved in the both the loss and recovery of GFR in septic AKI (60). Now, new preclinical evidence questioned the long believed theory that fall in blood pressure directly led to decreased urine output. But, preclinical evidence is one thing, human experiment is another. It has been questioned the applicability of preclinical studies in animals to humans in sepsis (61). In 2012 Prowle et al. investigated the possibility of measuring RBF during phase-contrast MRI in patients admitted to the ICU with septic AKI (62). With a noninvasive technique they found a reduced total renal blood flow as fraction of cardiac output in 10 patients with AKI, compared with 11 normal volunteers. This was within 1-7 days after the diagnosis of AKI was made. This is an interesting finding since it shows the opposite of what is noted in previous mentioned clinical studies.

Angiotensin II and Adenosine Triphosphate

For a duration of time it has been hypothesized that during septic AKI glomerular filtration pressure decreases due to afferent but also efferent vasodilatation (63). To get closer to answering this question Wan et al. (64) induced hyperdynamic sepsis in sheep by the intravenous administration of E. Coli. Thereafter randomly infused the vasopressor Angiotensin II with the intention of increasing the intra-glomerular filtration pressure and increase

urine output. This had never been done before due to concerns about the intense effect on renal blood flow and kidney function (64). The result of the study was that with a dose of AT II titrated to restored levels of MAP, it caused a systemic vasoconstriction, but with a limited effect on mesenteric, coronary and iliac vessels. The RBF and renal conductance decreased to normal levels. Urine output increased 7-fold and the Creatinine clearance increased by 70% as well as the fractional natriuresis. Yet again Bellomo and his research group implicated that the vascular bed and intra-glomerular pressure was involved in the pathogenesis of septic AKI. But not all questions were answered. When infusing AT2 to a MAP level similar to baseline, the urine output and factional natriuresis were much greater. This indicating that the increase in urine output was not simply secondary to an increase in glomerular filtration pressure. Something else was also going on. The authors implicated that use of AT II could have a role in treatment of septic AKI. But with a new treatment came a new concern. Increasing the urine output during AKI may not be beneficial, and in worst case harmful, depleting the kidney of ATP during sodium reabsorption. Redfors et al. (65) did a prospective, two-group comparative study looking into renal oxygenation and sodium reabsorption during AKI. In sodium reabsorption during AKI the oxygen consumption increases and this may be harmful if it leads to bioenergetic failure. Trying to assess the safety and benefit of AT II as vasoconstrictor therapy during AKI, May et al. (66) measured the ATP levels using magnetic resonance spectroscopy. During early hypotensive gram-negative sepsis they found no evidence of ATP depletion despite reduced RBF. The animals were in the scanner for 6 hours in total. They were monitored for 2 hours with infusion of E.coli and thereafter 2 hours during infusion of AT II. Because of the immobilization and positioning of the animals within the scanner they had no possibility to measure urine output, Creatinine clearance or other biomarkers. These data only indicates that during early hypotensive gram negative sepsis there is a sufficient ATP level despite reduced RBF and use of a powerful vasoconstrictor. How this correlates with the clinical picture with reduced urine output and Creatinine clearance is unknown. It is still possible that later in the disease development of sepsis, ATP depletion may develop.

Nitric Oxide Synthase

It has been extensively reported that hypotension during sepsis is caused by a systemic vasodilatation caused by an up regulation of nitric oxide synthase and release of nitric oxide. This is also the case within the kidney (67, 68). Nitric oxide synthase comes in different isoforms; endothelial NOS (eNOS), neuronal NOS (nNOS) and inducible NOS (iNOS). iNOS is thought to have a key role in host defense and inflammation (69). One theory that has evolved over time is that an increased expression of nitric oxide leads to vasodilatation of the afferent and the efferent arteriole. This vasodilatation decreases the glomerular filtration pressure and causes a fall in glomerular filtration. This has been studied by Ishikawa et al (70, 71). They induced hyperdynamic sepsis in sheep and manipulated the nitric oxide synthase expression by a nonspecific nitric oxide inhibitor. With an intra-renal nonspecific nitric oxide inhibitor (N-nitro-Larginine methyl ester) infusion, the renal blood flow decreased, but did not increase glomerular filtration. With a follow up study Ishikawa et al. induced a highly selective inducible nitric oxide synthase inhibitor (iNOS) with minimal

effect on RBF and glomerular filtration. These findings indicate that an increased release of NO during septic AKI may not be the cause of decreased renal function, as well as it is no clearly correlation between RBF and renal function. On the other hand, one cannot exclude the possibility that inhibition of NOS can cause constriction of both afferent and efferent arteriole, thus not increasing the glomerular filtration pressure. With selective iNOS inhibition it is also possible that eNOS and nNOS produce sufficient amount of NO, that inhibition of iNOS has no effect in regards of increased vasoconstriction.

In summary

Measuring the macrocirculation of the kidney does not permit an adequate understanding of the hemodynamic alterations in septic AKI. Nevertheless, current research indicates that septic AKI may develop during a hyperdynamic state and increase in renal blood flow, as well as with reduced renal blood flow. The autoregulation of renal blood flow has been shown to be impaired in critical illness (72) and AKI (62), so the renal blood flow can vary with cardiac output. This may also differ between preclinical and clinical studies and may also differ in time during the disease process. What is also interesting is that during decreased urine output the fractional sodium and uric acid excretion decreases, indicating that the kidney function is intact during early stages of the disease. If septic AKI can develop during reduced and increased total renal blood flow, one can question ischemia and bioenergetics/ATP depletion as a primary cause of septic AKI. To support this, experimental data done by May et al. showed that cortical and medullary blood flow, renal vascular conductance, and adenosine triphosphate levels remained unchanged in hyperdynamic septic sheep (66). In another study by Porta et al. they looked at mitochondrial respiration during endotoxemia. The found that during 24 hours RBF, renal mitochondrial respiration, nor renal lactate/pyruvate ratio did not change in experimental endotoxemia (73). An interesting question not answered in these studies is whether the changes in renal blood flow are linked to the changes in glomerular filtration. It does also not answer the question regarding intra-renal blood flow distribution during septic AKI. It is still not clear if this is a macro- or microcirculatory challenge. So, if ischemia or bioenergetics is not the primary cause of septic AKI, what is? Is there an alteration to the kidney and do it at a later stage develop acute tubular necrosis as hypothesized?

Histopathology – alterations to the kidney during AKI

For a long duration of time the general key idea behind prerenal acute kidney injury has been acute tubular necrosis (ATN). The ATN has been described as an intrinsic acute kidney injury due to severe and persistent hypoperfusion that leads to decrease in oxygen delivery and development of cell necrosis. The complex clinical syndrome of septic acute kidney injury and the ethical aspects of the procedure make it difficult to verify the histopathological condition by biopsy. In this section I will elaborate on current knowledge on the histopathology in septic AKI.

A systematic review was done by Langenberg et al. in 2008 looking into current knowledge on histopathology in septic AKI (74). Of a total of 184 patients, only 26 (22%) had features suggestive of acute tubular necrosis. In four primate

studies and 13 rodent studies only 37% and 23% respectively had ATN. The majority of the studies reported normal histology and mild to non-specific changes, ATN was relatively uncommon. To draw a conclusion from these numbers is hasty, but it questions the medical dogma that septic AKI is caused by ATN. The number of patients in these studies, limited data regarding hemodynamic status and the duration of the experiments are limitations to these studies. That makes one question their liability. On the other hand there is a significantly limited human data existing on the histopathological changes associated with septic AKI. In 2014 Langenberg et al. investigated the histology, immunohistochemistry, markers of apoptosis and expression of nitric oxide synthase isoforms and hypoxia-inducible factor-1 alfa (53) in septic AKI. Investigations were performed by inducing septic AKI by continuous infusion with E.coli and analysis was done on kidneys from normal sheep, sheep with septic AKI and sheep after recovery from septic AKI (infusion with gentamycin). As previous studies they found a lack of ATN or increased apoptosis within the animals with septic AKI. They also did not find evidence of macrophage or myofibroblast infiltration, as well as caspase-3 cleavage to suggest activation of apoptotic pathways. Nor did they find any increase in neutrophil gelatinaseassociated lipocalin that could suggest tubular injury. This study focused on the first 48 hours of the condition and it is still unclear if these findings are relevant to a more sustained septic state as often seen in humans. Though this is the first time there has been done a comprehensive investigation into the histopathology of septic AKI. Indicating again that hypoperfusion does not play a significant role in the development of the condition, together with minimal histological changes in the first 48 hours. This indicating a functional, not a structural change responsible for alterations in renal functions.

To elaborate on the existing human data, Lerolle et al performed postmortem biopsies in 2010 on 19 patients who died of septic shock (75). Significant findings in this study were that all patients had acute tubular lesions, intense leukocyte infiltration and tubular cell apoptosis. This study is interesting in regards of end stage kidney damage, and indicates that in humans that dies from septic shock may have fibrin disposition in the glomeruli, ATN and leukocyte infiltration. The discrepancy from previous studies comes most likely from the fact that these patients were old, severely hemodynamic unstable, used vasopressors and had prolonged illness. They were anuric for two days and had systolic blood pressure of 60 mmHg for the last 4-6 hours. Another study by Takasu et al. came out in 2013 (76). They looked into the effect of sepsis on myocyte and tubular cells by rapid post mortem biopsies. They found that injury to the tubular cells were quite common, but presented focally. Tubular injury occurred in 30 of 39 (77%) septic patients, affecting 10.3±9.5% corticomedullary junction tubules and 5.9±9.8% cortical tubules. They defined tubular injury as tubular dilatation, epithelial flattening, cell sloughing or coagulative necrosis. Furthermore, they did find focal coagulative-type tubular necrosis in 17 of 39 patients (44%), involving less than 5% of tubular cells. Also interestingly medullary tubular epithelial cell sloughing occurred in 35 of 36 (97%) patients, affecting 18.7±11.7% of tubules. Apoptosis was seen in only 0,3% of the cells investigated.

Takasu et al. findings differ from Lerolle et al in regards to the effect of sepsis on tubular cells. Takasu et al. did not report on leukocyte infiltration and fibrin deposition as a result of septic AKI. Furthermore, the most important difference is the postulation by Lerolle et al. that apoptosis is a major mechanism of sepsis-induced AKI. Takasu et al question this.

These studies differ in many ways from previous studies, mainly because they are post mortem human study and not an experimental animal study. Further, this is the end stage of septic AKI and describes the histopathology post mortem, giving relevant information about the end result of the disease. Previous studies like Langenberg et al. have focused on the early phase of the condition and therefore the results cannot be compared. These studies are completely different in design and must be interpreted thereafter. These data indicates a lack of ATN and leukocyte infiltration in the early phases of the condition, but may develop during septic shock and within death.

The current research is not conclusive when it comes to the effect of septic AKI on tubular cells. Though, what is interesting is that the majority of the evidence points in the direction of minor influence of the tubular cells, which can not explain the dramatic fall in urine output and Creatinine clearance. Further, the key idea of acute tubular necrosis being the reason for loss of renal function must be rejected. The kidney does not show signs of major alterations, but what about the immune system and the massive activation of inflammatory mediators, could it have any effect on the kidney?

The immune system and septic AKI

Sepsis as a disease activates the immune system and challenges organs and tissues not just through reduced perfusion, but also with toxins, cytokines and inflammatory mediators that are produced by the host and the bacteria. In this section I will elaborate on theories involving the immune system and its effect on the kidney. Also I will introduce the concept of DAMPs and PAMPs. Gomez et al. presented a possible unifying theory in 2014, which combined hemodynamic alteration and the effect of inflammation (54). Through a literature review they proposed a theory that would explain the alterations to kidney function during sepsis. The theory is presented here since it embraces many of the theories involved in inflammation and septic AKI

The classic histological picture of septic AKI is patchy, heterogenous tubular cell injury with apical vacuolization, with absence of acute tubular necrosis or extensive apoptosis (77). With an absence of acute tubular necrosis, Gomez et al. emphasize the presence of three main alteration that are pivotal in the development in septic AKI; inflammation (78, 79), diffuse microcirculatory flow abnormalities (80) and cell bioenergetic adaptive response to injury (81). Gomez et al. speculates that septic AKI is a clinically and biochemically manifestation of an adaptive response of the tubular cells to an inflammatory danger signal. Further, they hypothesize an interplay between inflammation and microvascular dysfunction with a response of the mitochondria within the tubular cells to down regulate and reprioritize cell processes which will favor cell survival. This process, which involves maintenance of membrane potential and cell cycle

arrest, will be at the expense of kidney function i.e. tubular absorption and secretion of solutes.

Inflammation

During sepsis inflammatory mediators (cytokines, LPS etc.) derived from pathogens and host cells are distributed into the circulatory system. They are also known as damage- or pathogens associated molecular patterns, DAMPs or PAMPs. These mediators guide the immune system in its fight against infection. Allegedly these mediators can exert their function on tubular cells through the peritubular circulation or through filtration in the glomerulus, affecting tubular cells in the lumen. Through toll like receptors (TLR-4 and TLR-2) on tubular cells DAMPS and PAMPS can be recognized (82), though only patches of cells seems to display signs of distress (83). Gomez et al. speculate that the patchy areas affected by DAMPS/PAMPS are in connection with areas with heterogeneous blood flow caused by microcirculatory dysfunction and that these to events are closely connected.

Microcirculatory flow

The authors try to explain the pathogenesis behind the heterogeneous histopathological changes seen during septic AKI. They argument that sepsis cause microcirculatory dysfunction and subsequent sluggish peritubular flow. Anatomically there is allegedly a reduction in proportion of capillaries with normal function. A reduced number of capillaries with normal flow, an increase in vessels with intermittent or no blood flow (78, 84, 85). inflammation causes areas of sluggish blood flow. Holthoff et al. (85) investigated the velocity of erythrocyte during CLP. They found a marked reduced velocity after 6 hours with intravital microscopy. Also Goddard et al. (86) experienced reduced leukocyte velocity during endotoxemia in cardiac muscle cells. Through decreased capillary velocity Gomez et al. arguments that tubular cells have a prolonged exposure to cytokines, DAMPS/PAMPS and leukocytes. This in turn will up regulate inflammatory pathways and induce oxidative stress and vacuolization. Oxidative stress is believed to be a hallmark of sepsis-induced tubular injury and is especially widespread among cells that are not in direct connection with peritubular capillaries. Supporting this is increased RNS and NOS activity 4 h after CLP in cells that are not in direct contact with capillaries (78, 79). Furthermore, Gomez et al. emphasize the fact that the only uniformly identified feature of septic AKI is oxidative stress in apical vacuoles (83). Another aspect that allegedly affects the microvasculature is the heterogeneous expression of iNOS during septic AKI. This will again result in heterogeneous regional concentrations of NO and contribute to a local depravation of NO, which could affect vascular beds and lead to shunting and hypoxia (87).

Microcirculatory dysfunction in sepsis has in several articles been characterized by heterogeneous abnormalities in RBF in which some capillaries are underperfused, while others have normal or abnormally high blood flow (88-90). As previous elaborated, Langenberg et al. (59) is of the understanding that there could also be a hyperdynamic state during sepsis. In regards to microcirculatory alterations, there is not yet possible to draw any conclusion. Tubular injury during sepsis could be affected not only by DAMPS and PAMPS, but also by

hypoxia. So the tubular injury seen during septic AKI could be an adaptive response to reduced oxygen supply (83, 88, 91).

Tubular metabolic down regulation

Another interesting mechanism presented by Gomez et al. is the allegedly response of tubular cells to danger signals. A metabolic down regulation and reprioritization of cellular functions occur as a response to DAMPS/PAMPS. This is done by the mitochondria to ensure energy balance and prevent DNA damage. The oxidative stress and inflammation allegedly affects tubular function as well as histology. This is through reduced endocytic capacity from the tubular lumen (92) and reduced bicarbonate reabsorption in the medullary thick ascending limb of the loop of Henle (93). Further, the early adaptive response in the tubular cells is done by mitophagy, the removal of and digestion of dysfunctional organelles from the cytoplasm (94). The intention is to protect the cell by removal of dysfunctional mitochondria, which will lead to a decrement of O2 consumption and conservation of energy. Also, the authors speculate that mitochondria is involved in cell cycle arrest (95) which will affect kidney function.

Tubular injury and GFR

The elaboration on the effect of sepsis on tubular influence and injury does not explain the massive decline in urine output and Creatinine clearance. A theory that has been proposed is that the relationship between tubular injury and the decreased GFR is due to an up regulation of the tubuloglomerular feedback mechanism (TGF). The TGF works within each nephron through the juxtaglomerular apparatus. It acts to stabilize the nephron function and distal delivery of solutes (96). With increased GFR or reduced reabsorption, the NaCl concentration increases in the tubules. A Na/K/2Cl transporter in the tubules will increase the reabsorption of sodium and trigger the glomerular feedback mechanism (96). This again will cause macula densa to express signaling substances that will constrict afferent arteriole and decrease the intraglomerular pressure and decrease GFR.

As elaborated earlier in previous mentioned studies, septic AKI can occur in both hypo- and hyper perfused kidneys, therefore questioning TGF activation as a primary cause of decrease urine output. Also recent human and clinical experimental data shows that there is a possible vasodilation, not a vasoconstriction leading to a decrease in glomerular pressure. With a TGF activation the afferent arteriole should constrict and decrease the glomerular filtration pressure, but experiments shows the opposite. Also, one could question if the TGF mechanism is powerful enough to maintain anuria. TGF reduces GFR on average by approximately 45% (97). Using AT2 or norepinephrine in sufficiently high enough doses would produce total vasoconstriction (97). On the other hand sepsis could potentially damage or alter the proximal tubular cells in regards of reabsorption. There is an increase in urine output in the early phases of septic AKI (52). With increased GFR and subsequently increased amount of NaCl in the distal tubule, the TGF would be activated leading to a fall in GFR. Further, it has been speculated that this effect could be pathological, but also physiological (98). Due to the excessive volume loss caused by for example increased permeability or reduced reabsorption, the kidney tries to retain volume through the activation of the TGF. With increased filtered sodium the oxygen consumption increases, damaging the kidney even further in a time of stress. Activating the TGF, constricting the afferent arteriole with the effect of decreased GFR will hinder just that.

Organ cross talk

An interesting theory that has not been investigated properly in terms of septic AKI is the organ cross talk theory. Sepsis arises from infections often in the respiratory- and urine tract. It is not unlikely that organs and in particularly the kidney can be affected by damage to other organs and will adjust itself or be influenced by the bodies response.

A typically known example of a possible organ cross talk is the hepato-renal syndrome involved in liver failure (99). Back in 2003 Imai et al (100) looked into injurious mechanical ventilation during ARDS and its effect on end-organ epithelial cell apoptosis and organ dysfunction. They proposed that injurious mechanical ventilation strategies would lead to end-organ cell apoptosis and that circulating factors in the plasma may be involved in this process. Therefore, 24 rabbits with acid-aspiration were mechanically ventilated with injurious- and non-injurious strategy. Injurious strategies are in this case an increase in tidal volume and a low peak end expiratory pressure. After 8 hours the animals were killed and samples from lung, liver, kidney and intestines were collected. They further assessed the effect of plasma from ventilated animals on development of apoptosis on rabbit renal tubular cells. They found an increase in renal tubular cells apoptosis in animals with injurious ventilation strategies, 10,9%. Furthermore, rabbit renal tubular cells that were exposed to plasma from animals that were ventilated with injurious strategies did also show increase induction of apoptosis at 4 and 8 hours. Imai et al. questioned the role of Fas ligand, a potent pro-apoptotic molecule in development of end-organ apoptosis in the kidney. Therefore they measured the molecule in rabbits during the experiment. Also they measured Creatinine and Fas ligand in plasma from patients included in a randomized clinical trial looking into the effect on inflammatory mediators by mechanical ventilation (101). They found a significant correlation between Creatinine rise and Fas ligand in patients with

The theory behind organ cross talk is intriguing in regards to septic AKI due to, as of now, a lack of knowledge in regards to etiology of this devastating disease. ARDS is of course not sepsis and in many ways these two diseases cannot be compared. Though, the subtle changes in other organs during ARDS is interesting, in the fact that mediators in the blood stream from a disease process in one place of the body can affect another organ not in close proximity of the disease. As of now, one can not rule out the possible effect of inflammatory mediators from disease processes elsewhere in the body being the primary cause of changes to renal function during septic AKI. Another aspect of this study is that the degree of apoptosis seen in rabbit kidney during ARDS does not explain the changes in kidney function. Further, the rise in Creatinine and Fas ligand after 24-30 hours and 36-40 hours does not support Fas ligand as the primary cause of the Creatinine rise. Also, Creatinine is known to be a late and inaccurate predictor of kidney function. Septic AKI is known to have subtle

histopathological changes, though not a great deal of apoptosis. In ARDS there is allegedly subtle changes to the renal tubular cells and Imai et al. proposes an effect on the kidneys by inflammatory mediators excreted by the lungs during ARDS and mechanical ventilation. This indicates an effect on the kidneys by inflammatory markers, but do not explain the changes in kidney function seen for example during septic AKI.

Glomerular filtration barrier and GFR

Sepsis is an endothelial alternating disease in the whole body. Why should it not be the same in the kidney? Key concepts necessary to understand the glomerular filtration barrier were mentioned previously in this thesis, though a short reinforcement is necessary. Vascular permeability in renal glomeruli is determined by the glomerular filtration barrier (GFB) which are made up by glomerular capillary endothelium, podoctyes and the basement membrane (102). Another important structure not always emphasized is the glycocalyx, which is covered by a thicker cell coat composed of plasma proteins such as albumin and orosomucoid, as well as proteins and hyaluronan produced by the endothelium (8, 37). Glomerular endothelial cells contain glomerular fenestrae, which are circular transcellular pores, 50-100 nm in diameter (9, 10, 16). One of the main functions of the GFB is to prevent leakage of lager molecules like albumin and other plasma proteins into the urine (8). Alteration to the GFB has been suggested in some studies to lead to albuminuria, which is the main characteristic of GFB damage (103-105). During a LPS model of sepsis several cytokines are released into the blood stream, affecting endothelial cells. Tumor necrosis factor alfa (TNFalfa) has been shown to be a key mediator in LPS induced AKI through effects on tumor necrosis factor receptor-1 (TNFR-1) (106, 107). Another molecule, which also exerts its effect on the endothelial cell, is the vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF). VEGF is known as an important inducer of fenestrae and is exert its effect on vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 2 (VEGFR2). In the kidney VEGF is produced by podocytes (108). Plasma levels of VEGF has been directly associated with changes in glomerular fenestrations where increased levels induces fenestrations (109). VEGF has also been found to markedly increase endothelial permeability (110).

In 2011 Adembri et al. came out with a paper that focused on another aspect of septic AKI that had not been extensively investigated before. The effect of sepsis on the glomerular filtration barrier (104). They looked into the early stages of septic AKI and tried to determine whether albuminuria developed in the early stages of the disease and if it was associated with alterations to the GFB. With cecal ligation and puncture (CLP) they induced sepsis in rats and measured TNF-alfa, growth of microorganisms in the peritoneal fluid and took kidney specimens for assessment, at 0, 3 and 7 hour. They also measured serum Creatinine and Creatinine clearance for kidney function and albuminuria. They found that urinary albumin significantly increased after 7 hours. Further, they observed increased levels of TNFalfa. Also they saw diffuse alterations to the glycocalyx of the GFB, together with reduced syndecan-1 expression and decrease in hyaluronan and sialic acid contents. This was without an increase in serum Creatinine or Creatinine clearance. Another interesting observation was in the alteration of the sialic acid content. They observed a higher degree of acetylation

(a reaction that introduces a acetyl functional group into the compound) to different forms of the sialic acid. Specifically sialic acid with acetyl in C9 position is known to have a specific role in defense against neuraminidase (111), which cleaves the glycosidic linkage of neuraminic acid. Sialic acid is a derivative of neuraminic acid. Therefore, the authors speculate that the acetylation is a defense against bacterial degradation, with a masking of recognition sites on the sialic acids (112). The endothelium and podocytes could therefore be involved in the defense against circulating pro-inflammatory mediators. The glycocalyx is rich in anions and sialic acid is an important component. With an alteration to the sialic acid content, the charge barrier is disrupted and could therefore contribute to the increased loss of albumin (8, 113)

Another interesting study that needs further elaboration is the study by Xu et al. in 2014 (26). They investigated the effect of sepsis and LPS on the glomerular endothelium and endothelial surface layer. TNFR1 knockout mice and normal mice were infused with E.coli to induce sepsis. This to evaluate if the effect of LPS on glomerular epithelium was mediated by TNFalfa activation of TNFR1. They measured urea levels as indicator of GFR and urine Albumin/Creatinine ratio to assess injury to GFB. Through immunofluoresence they could detect VEGFR2 and heparanase-1 levels indicative of endothelial surface layer alterations, and with TEM analyses the GFB were assessed. Xu et al. observed that LPS induces AKI and an increase in urine concentration of albumin. Furthermore, they observed that mice deficient in TNFR1 are resistant to LPS-induced AKI and albuminuria. In normal mice LPS induced AKI led to a detachment of glomerular endothelial cells from the basement membranes. Also, they observed a 5-fold decrease in fenestrae density, whereas the average fenestrae diameter was 3-fold higher in mice treated with LPS compared with controls. Intravenous TNF injection caused AKI and similar changes to the glomerular endothelial cell fenestra as with LPS. Further, kidney VEGF level was decreased during LPS-induced AKI, but VEGFR2 levels were not changed. Also, LPS- and TNF-induced AKI did lead to degradation of the endothelial surface layer, ESL. This was further investigated through glomerular heparanase expression, which is known to degrade the ESL. This is done through removal of heparan sulfate for heparan sulfate glycoproteins, which contribute to the glomerular filtration barrier (114).

With other words, LPS reduces the endothelial surface layer, resulting in mild albuminuria, reduced glomerular filtration rate and fewer endothelial fenestrae. Furthermore, TNFalfa seems significant with its effect on TNFR1 in this process. This indicates that the ESL has a greater role in the filtration barrier than first anticipated, especially in regards to proteins, but also the GFR. The authors speculate that the fall in GFR and hence urine output is due to a reduced hydraulic conductance. This could be through a reduction of the density of fenestrae, but also through alterations to the composition of the ESL, alternating the hydraulic conductance. The mild and transient proteinuria observed during induction of LPS has been attributed to the effect of LPS on podocytes (115), but with Xu et al. new data, the alterations to the ESL must be taken into account. This indicating that there are several components in the GFB responsible and essential to the permselectivity during LPS and TNFalfa induction. Similar renal

pathology has been observed in patients with pre-eclampsia (116) and in patients with Diabetes type 2 (117).

Glycocalyx

The endothelial glycocalyx is a complex macromolecular network which has many functions (118) and cover every blood vessel in the body. Sepsis leads to degradation of the glycocalyx, alterations to the endothelial permeability with the result of hypovolemia, hypoalbuminemia and edema (103, 119). During sepsis the glycocalyx gets exposed to different pro-inflammatory mediators such as interleukin 1 (IL-1), IL-2, IL-6, TNFalfa and other mediators such as Bradykinin, VEGF, Histamine and Thrombin. These mediators activate the glomerular endothelial cell and increases glycocalyx expression of endothelial leukocyte adhesion molecule 1, intercellular adhesion molecule 1 (ICAM-1), and vascular cell adhesion molecule 1 (VCAM-1). These proteins promote leukocyte rolling, adherence, and migration, which initiate the inflammatory damage to endothelium (120). Inflammation injury during sepsis is linked to increased paracellular permeability and outflow of albumin and fluids in the interstitial space (121). It has been hypothesized that the increased permeability is due to loss of anionic charges, changes in geometry of the clefts, and direct endothelial injury (120). The glycocalyx can be affected by other mediators as well as interleukins and TNFalfa. During sepsis there is produced a large amount of reactive oxygen species, ROS and cytokines. ROS and cytokines are known to depolymerize glycosaminoglycan, GAGs, chains of proteoglycans, which are crucial for the barrier function of glomerular endothelial cell, GEnC (122, 123). ROS disrupts the GEnC's glycocalyx through a direct mechanism of action (124), and therefore could be relevant during septic AKI.

Chapter 5: Discussion

As of our discussion so far, it is questionable how big of an impact bioneregetic failure or ischemia have on the kidney during septic AKI. Acute tubular necrosis and apoptosis is almost not present and does not explain the alterations to the kidney in regards of renal blood flow and reduced renal function. Also, there is no conclusive information regarding the role of microvascular changes and glomerular filtration pressure. The immune system is activated and the tubular cells show signs of oxidative stress, but one cannot conclude if, or in what degree, the alterations to tubular cells influence kidney function. Thus, current theories do not fully explain the alterations to kidney function and give answer to the primary cause of septic AKI.

Septic AKI is most likely a result of different factors that influences the kidney. Though, some factors contribute more to the disease process than others. During my study of current research on the topic of septic AKI, some ideas and theories has emerged. I will in this section present my key ideas on the mechanism behind the development of septic AKI. The theory behind the pathophysiology of septic AKI can be summarized like this: Induction of sepsis through bacteria with a systemic effect, causes an alteration to the macro- and microcirculation in the body. Renal blood flow is affected and shifts between a hyper dynamic and hypo dynamic state. Sepsis with its inflammatory mediators affects the endothelium

and especially the glomerular filtration barrier. Through alterations to the GFB the permselectivity is affected, triggering an abnormal response by the glomerulus itself and the glomerular endothelium. The glomerulus and its hemodynamics are affected, causing a decline in GFR. The endothelium modifies its filtration component; resulting in a marked fall in urine output, increase in serum Creatinine and urea, and the situation progresses to what we physicians see as septic AKI.

An interesting phenomenon was reported in Langenberg et al. (52) study. They reported that the urinary output increased briefly after induction of sepsis before steadily decreasing. This increase happened at about 4 hours after induction of sepsis. Gupta et al. (92) reported that after 3 hours an apparent leakage of low molecular weight dextran, LMWD, and high molecular weight dextran, HMWD were present and indicated an increase in endothelial permeability. Adembri et al. (104) observed an increase in albumin/urinary Creatinine ratio by 152% and 288% at 3 and 7 hours respectively. These data implies that there is an alteration to the GFB and its permselectivity already after 3 and 7 hours post induction of sepsis. Langenberg reported that 8-10 hours after induction of sepsis the urinary output was at it's lowest. The same was reported in their previous study the year before (59). So, the permselectivity increases, before drastically decreasing in literally just a few hours. This occurs despite an increased renal blood flow and satisfactory MAP. What causes this drastic decline in urinary output?

Before elaborating on the cause of decreased GFR during septic AKI, it is interesting to discuss the overall view on the pathology behind septic AKI. One could speculate on the response of the kidney to sepsis. Is this a physiological response or is it a pathological response to injury? I think this is interesting in that sense that we can look at the response from two different angles. First, the physiological response: As mentioned earlier in this thesis there are theories that state that the tubular cells and glomerulus is under an attack during sepsis. This is from circulating inflammatory mediators such as DAMPS and PAMPS. The glycocalyx is also believed to be under influence of shear stress, and shedding of the glycocalyx is reported (125, 126). This attack on the GFB could increase the permeability through alternating the glycocalyx and the GFB composition. One could imagine that the nephron itself is under attack and response to injury and uncontrolled loss of fluids and proteins would be to promptly decrease the GFR. This could be done rapidly by decreasing the intra-glomerular pressure by a vasodilatation of the afferent and efferent arteriole. On a long-term basis through alternating the composition of the GFB and its permselectivity with a decline in fenestrae density. A cellular alteration in a matter of just a few hours is difficult to imagine, but with a decrease in intra-glomerular pressure, regulating the afferent and efferent vasoconstriction, the nephron has the ability to affect the degree of glomerular filtration rate in a matter of minutes. In a prolonged disease process it is interesting to speculate on the kidneys ability to adjust and adapt, alternating the filtration barrier with one key effect: restoring blood volume and plasma proteins in response to a generalized sepsis induced systemic vasodilatation.

This theory is intriguing, though it is not applicable to the clinical setting of septic AKI. If this were a physiological response then we would expect septic AKI to develop in every patient with the condition. Interestingly, this is not the fact. So, if we look at the same alterations from a pathological view, it gets even more interesting. Yet again the nephron and the renal glomerular endothelial cells are under attack from inflammatory mediators such as DAMPS and PAMPS. The attack and shedding of the glycocalyx and the GFB increases the permeability and alters its composition. This is manifested by increased albumin excretion (104) and increased urine output (52), a symbol of a damaged barrier. The increased albumin excretion is reported to occur just few hours after the induction of sepsis as already mentioned. Now, simultaneously the nitric oxide expression is increased (67) causing a vasodilatation of the afferent and efferent arteriole, decreasing the intra-glomerular filtration pressure and subsequently the urine output. As a response to the attack on the glycocalyx and the GFB the glomerulus tries to repair itself. Now, this is where it all gets interesting; could this process be altered? Could the decreased fenestrae density and increased diameter observed by Xu et al. (26), be a consequence of maladaptive response to injury? Is it possible to think that the endothelial cell alters its composition due to an extrinsic stimulus, which in turn will cause a fall in conductivity? Causing an accumulation of Creatinine and urea, a fall in urine output and the condition we call septic AKI?

Now, let's elaborate on one of the main components involved in the disease process: the glycocalyx. The glycocalyx and its alterations during septic AKI have not been studied as well as endothelial cells and glycocalyx in other parts of the body during sepsis. Though, I think the theories regarding alterations to the endothelial cell during sepsis can be adapted to the glomerulus during AKI. It is known that the enzymatic selective thinning of the endothelial glycocalyx will promote hyper permeability (37, 127) and expose endothelial adhesion molecules like intracellular adhesion molecule 1, ICAM-1 and vascular cell adhesion molecule 1, VCAM-1. This will allow neutrophils to adhere to the endothelial surface (128, 129) and commence their inflammatory response and damage to the endothelium (130). Subsequent damage will increase permeability (121). This may also be true for sepsis (131). In 2013 Wiesinger et al. looked into the Nano mechanics of endothelial glycocalyx during sepsis. They investigated the inflammation-induced damage to the glycocalyx during sepsis with atomic-force microscopy (131). Endothelial cells from a rodent aorta were harvested 18 hours after administration of E.coli. They found that during endotoxemia the glycocalyx was reduced in regards of thickness and stiffness. This is in concordance with previous studies (132, 133). This was investigated ex vivo and in vitro, using human pulmonary microvascular endothelial cells. An interesting finding was that when Wieninger et al. used TNFalfa and thrombin, the glycocalyx was reduced with 48% and 55% respectively. This indicating that different septic mediators can alter the glycocalyx rapidly in an in vitro model. Also, it may not be confined to sepsis, but also to other critical illness where there have been reported increased amount of glycocalyx constituents; Acute lung injury (134), major trauma (135) and major vascular surgery (126).

Xu et al. (26) as mentioned earlier in this thesis, investigated the effect of sepsis and LPS on the glomerular endothelium and endothelial surface laver. The essential finding of their study was that there is a reduction in fenestrae density and an increase in fenestrae diameter during septic AKI. Furthermore, they found that LPS reduced two major components of the glomerular ESL, sialic acid and heparan sulfate glycosaminoglycans. These changes were associated with loss of GFB permselectivity by documentation of albuminuria. These findings indicate that the glycocalyx in the glomerulus is influenced in the same matter as glycocalyx elsewhere in the body. Though, what we must not forget is that the endothelial cell in the glomerulus is different from other endothelium. One of the major components distinguishing glomerular endothelium from other endothelium is the presence of fenestrae. Normally the fluid and solvent shift takes place in a paracellular fashion, but in the glomerulus it is mainly through the fenestrae. In generalized sepsis one of the main challenges is uncontrolled fluid shift, with increased fluid in the interstitial space together with efflux of albumin from the vascular bed. Sepsis leads to degradation of the glycocalyx, alterations to the endothelial permeability with the result of hypovolemia, hypoalbuminemia and edema (103, 119). This phenomenon has not been reported in histological studies of kidney during sepsis. Yet again it is tempting to question if there is an alteration to the conductivity of the GFB. Alterations to the main fluid shift component may be a significant contributor to the development of septic AKI.

One could speculate on the effect of angiotensin 2 during septic AKI and the alteration to the GFB. Wan et al. (64) reported a marked increase in urine output during septic AKI and infusion of AT2. What is interesting with the study by Wan et al. is that this study does only investigate the first 8 hours after induction of sepsis. They report a marked increase in urine output by AT2 during the time period with significantly increased endothelial permeability. These data do not answer the effect of AT2 during a later phase of septic AKI. If there is pronounced alterations to the GFB with a decreased fenestrae density and decreased permeability, one could expect a decreased effect of AT2 on GFR. Further, AT2 is known as a powerful vasoconstrictor, which could significantly increase the glomerular filtration pressure. The normal mean pressure gradient driving ultrafiltrate is only 10mmHg (98). During AT2 infusion one could only speculate on the amount of filtration pressure caused by efferent vasoconstriction. With a powerful vasoconstrictor as AT2, one could easily expect a markedly increase in urine output. Though, with an increase in urine output by a seven fold and an increase in Creatinine clearance to pre-sepsis level(64), it is hard to argue that there may be a decrease in conductivity. Nevertheless, one should not forget the development of the disease. If the GFR declines in the early phases of the disease due to vasodilatation of afferent and efferent arteriole, the effect of AT2 is as expected. If the alternation to the GFB occurs at a later stage then AT2 may not have an effect.

Now, if the ultrafiltrate has reduced filtration capability, alterations to the tubular cells begin. As elaborated earlier in this thesis, the tubular cells gain their oxygen and glucose from peritubular capillaries. If there is a hyperdynamic state in the microcirculation during sepsis, one can speculate that the tubular cells will

not be suffering from hypoxia or the lack of nutrition. This could explain the lack of generalized acute tubular necrosis, apoptosis or any infiltration of macrophages. Though, it does not fully explain the focally tubular damage observed. One can imagine that with a reduction of filtration of fluid across the filtration membrane, this change would alter the conditions of the tubular cells. This brings us to the concept of sodium-retention. The tubular cells are dependent on the sodium gradient which is crucial for the tubular cells as a driving force for reabsorption or secretion of solutes (136). Urine sodium concentration (UNa) and fractional sodium excretion (FeNa) has been used to classify and distinguish prerenal AKI and established AKI. UNa values less than 20 mmol/L has been suggestive of a prerenal AKI and a sodium avid state. UNa values greater than 40 mmol/L have been considered consistent with established AKI (137, 138). This theory has been questioned and the sodium concentration is highly variable and is effected by many co-founders (139, 140). It was further questioned the ability of UNa to distinguish normal kidney function, pre-renal azotemia and ATN (141). Traditionally FeNa has been used to distinguish between prerenal and established AKI, FeNa <1% and FeNa >1% respectively (138, 142). FeNa and its clinical utility has also been questioned (141, 143) with no clear correlation between UNa/FeNa and the severity of AKI. In 2006 Langenberg et al. did a prospective observational animal study on urine biochemistry during septic acute renal failure (144). They observed that the UNa decreased early and remained persistently reduced during the observational period. The authors hypothesized that the sodium retentive state was due to a decrease in intra-glomerular pressure and therefore a loss of glomerular filtration pressure. Interestingly they also observed progressive decreases in UNa were accompanied by decreases in Creatinine clearance. So, with progression of septic AKI there is a loss of clearance and a sodium retentive state. This is an interesting phenomenon if seen in the light of altered glomerular permeability. If sepsis leads to a decrease in fenestrae density and a reduction of permeability, this could be observed as decreased UNa, as well as altered FeNa. The sodium retention could also happen due to an up regulation of the TGF. Early phases of the disease with increased permeability could activate the TGF and cause sodium retention and increased reabsorption.

New research has questioned the applicability of UNa and FeNa in septic AKI. Especially in terms of predicting and diagnosing AKI (145). So, using urine biochemistry in diagnosing and treatment of septic AKI is challenging. The diverse findings in regards of urine biochemistry during septic AKI could be due to a reduction of ultrafiltrate in the tubular lumen or a TGF mechanism activation, which in turn could affect the nephrons ability of reabsorption and excretion.

The clinical practice guideline for acute kidney injury, KDIGO, does not recommend the use of diuretics. Not to prevent AKI, nor as a treatment option. The only situation where there is recommended use of diuretics is during a situation of volume overload (49). Nonetheless, diuretics are still in use during AKI in intensive care units due to the effect in urine output. Diuretics are not associated with improved mortality or rate of independence from RRT, but there is an increase in urine output (146, 147). This effect is difficult to explain put in a

context with decreased intra-glomerular pressure, reduced glomerular permeability and an activated TGF mechanism.

Further recommendations

The pathophysiology behind septic AKI is still not fully understood. For the last decade, AKI and especially septic AKI have gotten renewed attention. Researchers like Bellomo, Prowle, Langenberg and Kellum to name a few, have put in a tremendous amount of work with the intention of unraveling the mystery of septic AKI. Still, there is no consensus and evidence-based treatment of this condition

Hemodynamic management of patients with or at risk of, septic AKI has been a central part of the overall treatment of this patient group. Researchers have focused particularly on understanding the relationship between systemic hemodynamics, renal blood flow and glomerular filtration rate. The interaction between the macrocirculation and the microcirculation has been of great interest. In particular the starling forces, and the kidneys ability to affect these forces have been an area of study. For almost a decade experimental studies have been focusing on the filtration pressure, the intra-glomerular pressure and the interaction between the afferent and efferent arteriole in the nephron. With no clear answers. In recent years, more attention has been given to the glomerular filtration barrier, which is an interesting new aspect. With new research, it is evident that we need to embrace a more holistic approach. Is it time for a new era where we focus on hydraulic conductivity? Haraldsson (148) presents the term "intergrative glomerular barrier complex" which embraces a more allencompassing concept. Not looking for the single most important component, but a view of the glomerular barrier as a contributing part of the filtration process. Further, is it time to question the ultrafiltration coefficient? Is it possible that the ultrafiltrate coefficient is not constant, and that the GFB is influenced by pathological processes and may be in a shifting state? With Nano mechanics and new technology we have now the possibility of investigating the glomerular filtration barrier in a totally new manner. With insight into the factors affecting hydraulic conductivity, one could possibly unravel the mystery behind septic AKI.

Another concept that could be interesting is the division between early and late phase of septic AKI. The idea that the kidney regulates and adapts to attack and injury in different manners at different times seems rational. The prompt fall i GFR over just few hours with alterations to barrier function at a later time indicate a possible adaptation to injury. Dividing the pathogenesis into early a late stage could be beneficial in the overall understanding of the disease.

Due to the complexity of the pathogenesis of septic AKI and the difficulty of investigating its origin, the research has mainly been confined to experimental animal studies and to patient groups in the ICU. The literature is scarce on patients with sepsis outside the ICU. A large multicenter observational study observed septic AKI in 631 patients of the 1836 included patients with pneumonia (149). 16-25% of the patients with non-severe pneumonia developed septic AKI. This indicates that septic AKI may be more frequent than

expected and many patients develop AKI without getting admitted to the ICU. These data suggests that further research on this topic is needed.

Through careful studying of numerous papers on the topic of septic AKI, it is easy to get persuaded that there are different factors contributing to the development of septic AKI. Our shortcoming in the evaluation of the microcirculation in the kidney is an obstacle that one needs to overcome. The concept of filtration pressure is significant in the search for the pathogenesis of septic AKI, and is currently a prioritized area of research. The role of the endothelium in the glomerular filtration barrier, and especially glycocalyx, ESL and fenestrae development are interesting components for further research. The effect of inflammation on the glomerular endothelium and it's response to stimulus is intriguing. With new technology like Nano mechanics and PET, it could be possible to visualize components of the GFB in vitro and ex vitro. With a better understanding of the GFB one can investigate the importance of conductivity and possibly micro-damage to the GFB.

References

- 1. Nisula S, Kaukonen KM, Vaara ST, Korhonen AM, Poukkanen M, Karlsson S, et al. Incidence, risk factors and 90-day mortality of patients with acute kidney injury in Finnish intensive care units: the FINNAKI study. Intensive care medicine. 2013;39(3):420-8.
- 2. Uchino S, Kellum JA, Bellomo R, Doig GS, Morimatsu H, Morgera S, et al. Acute renal failure in critically ill patients: a multinational, multicenter study. Jama. 2005;294(7):813-8.
- 3. Koeppen BM, Stanton BA. Renal Physiology Fifth edition ed2013. p. 15-26.
- 4. Lote C, j. Principles of Renal Physiology. Fifth edition ed2012.
- 5. Alpern R, Orson, W. Moe, Caplan, Michael. Seldin and Giebisch's The Kidney: Physiology and Pathophysiology. 2013. p. 595-691.
- 6. Koeppen BM, Stanton BA. Renal Physiology. Fifth edition ed2013. p. 27-43.
- 7. White KE. Research into the structure of the kidney glomerulus-making it count. Micron. 2012;43(10):1001-9.
- 8. Haraldsson B, Nystrom J, Deen WM. Properties of the glomerular barrier and mechanisms of proteinuria. Physiological reviews. 2008;88(2):451-87.
- 9. Menon MC, Chuang PY, He CJ. The glomerular filtration barrier: components and crosstalk. International journal of nephrology. 2012;2012:749010.
- 10. Maezawa Y, Cina D, Quaggin SE. Glomerular Cell Biology. 2013. In: Seldin and Giebisch's The Kidney, Physiology and Pathophysiology [Internet]. Fifth edition. [721-55].

- 11. Wartiovaara J, Ofverstedt LG, Khoshnoodi J, Zhang J, Makela E, Sandin S, et al. Nephrin strands contribute to a porous slit diaphragm scaffold as revealed by electron tomography. The Journal of clinical investigation. 2004;114(10):1475-83.
- 12. Robert J. Alpern OWMaMC. Structural Organization of the Mammalian Kidney. 2013. In: Seldin and Giebisch's The Kidney, Physiology and Pathophysiology [Internet]. [595-691].
- 13. Anil Kumar P, Welsh GI, Saleem MA, Menon RK. Molecular and cellular events mediating glomerular podocyte dysfunction and depletion in diabetes mellitus. Frontiers in endocrinology. 2014;5:151.
- 14. Miner JH. The glomerular basement membrane. Experimental cell research. 2012;318(9):973-8.
- 15. Goldberg S, Harvey SJ, Cunningham J, Tryggvason K, Miner JH. Glomerular filtration is normal in the absence of both agrin and perlecanheparan sulfate from the glomerular basement membrane. Nephrology, dialysis, transplantation: official publication of the European Dialysis and Transplant Association European Renal Association. 2009;24(7):2044-51.
- 16. Satchell SC, Braet F. Glomerular endothelial cell fenestrations: an integral component of the glomerular filtration barrier. American journal of physiology Renal physiology. 2009;296(5):F947-56.
- 17. Bulger RE, Eknoyan G, Purcell DJ, 2nd, Dobyan DC. Endothelial characteristics of glomerular capillaries in normal, mercuric chloride-induced, and gentamicin-induced acute renal failure in the rat. The Journal of clinical investigation. 1983;72(1):128-41.
- 18. Ichimura K, Stan RV, Kurihara H, Sakai T. Glomerular endothelial cells form diaphragms during development and pathologic conditions. Journal of the American Society of Nephrology: JASN. 2008;19(8):1463-71.
- 19. Ryan GB, Karnovsky MJ. Distribution of endogenous albumin in the rat glomerulus: Role of hemodynamic factors in glomerular barrier function. Kidney international. 1976;9(1):36-45.
- 20. Ohlson M, Sorensson J, Haraldsson B. A gel-membrane model of glomerular charge and size selectivity in series. American journal of physiology Renal physiology. 2001;280(3):F396-405.
- 21. Ballermann BJ, Stan RV. Resolved: capillary endothelium is a major contributor to the glomerular filtration barrier. Journal of the American Society of Nephrology: JASN. 2007;18(9):2432-8.
- 22. Deen WM, Lazzara MJ, Myers BD. Structural determinants of glomerular permeability. American journal of physiology Renal physiology. 2001;281(4):F579-96.
- 23. Satchell SC, Anderson KL, Mathieson PW. Angiopoietin 1 and vascular endothelial growth factor modulate human glomerular endothelial cell barrier properties. Journal of the American Society of Nephrology: JASN. 2004;15(3):566-74.

- 24. Eremina V, Quaggin SE. The role of VEGF-A in glomerular development and function. Current opinion in nephrology and hypertension. 2004;13(1):9-15.
- 25. Ballermann BJ. Glomerular endothelial cell differentiation. Kidney international. 2005;67(5):1668-71.
- 26. Xu C, Chang A, Hack BK, Eadon MT, Alper SL, Cunningham PN. TNF-mediated damage to glomerular endothelium is an important determinant of acute kidney injury in sepsis. Kidney international. 2014;85(1):72-81.
- 27. Kamba T, Tam BY, Hashizume H, Haskell A, Sennino B, Mancuso MR, et al. VEGF-dependent plasticity of fenestrated capillaries in the normal adult microvasculature. American journal of physiology Heart and circulatory physiology. 2006;290(2):H560-76.
- 28. Eremina V, Baelde HJ, Quaggin SE. Role of the VEGF--a signaling pathway in the glomerulus: evidence for crosstalk between components of the glomerular filtration barrier. Nephron Physiology. 2007;106(2):p32-7.
- 29. Jeansson M, Haraldsson B. Morphological and functional evidence for an important role of the endothelial cell glycocalyx in the glomerular barrier. American journal of physiology Renal physiology. 2006;290(1):F111-6.
- 30. Jeansson M, Haraldsson B. Glomerular size and charge selectivity in the mouse after exposure to glucosaminoglycan-degrading enzymes. Journal of the American Society of Nephrology: JASN. 2003;14(7):1756-65.
- 31. Curry FE, Adamson RH. Endothelial glycocalyx: permeability barrier and mechanosensor. Annals of biomedical engineering. 2012;40(4):828-39.
- 32. Pries AR, Secomb TW, Gaehtgens P. The endothelial surface layer. Pflugers Archiv: European journal of physiology. 2000;440(5):653-66.
- 33. Vink H, Duling BR. Capillary endothelial surface layer selectively reduces plasma solute distribution volume. American journal of physiology Heart and circulatory physiology. 2000;278(1):H285-9.
- 34. Florian JA, Kosky JR, Ainslie K, Pang Z, Dull RO, Tarbell JM. Heparan sulfate proteoglycan is a mechanosensor on endothelial cells. Circulation research. 2003;93(10):e136-42.
- 35. Rostgaard J, Qvortrup K. Sieve plugs in fenestrae of glomerular capillaries--site of the filtration barrier? Cells, tissues, organs. 2002;170(2-3):132-8.
- 36. Hjalmarsson C, Johansson BR, Haraldsson B. Electron microscopic evaluation of the endothelial surface layer of glomerular capillaries. Microvascular research. 2004;67(1):9-17.
- 37. Friden V, Oveland E, Tenstad O, Ebefors K, Nystrom J, Nilsson UA, et al. The glomerular endothelial cell coat is essential for glomerular filtration. Kidney international. 2011;79(12):1322-30.
- 38. Reitsma S, Slaaf DW, Vink H, van Zandvoort MA, oude Egbrink MG. The endothelial glycocalyx: composition, functions, and visualization. Pflugers Archiv: European journal of physiology. 2007;454(3):345-59.

- 39. Angus DC, van der Poll T. Severe sepsis and septic shock. The New England journal of medicine. 2013;369(9):840-51.
- 40. Vincent JL, Abraham E. The last 100 years of sepsis. American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine. 2006;173(3):256-63.
- 41. Levy MM, Fink MP, Marshall JC, Abraham E, Angus D, Cook D, et al. 2001 SCCM/ESICM/ACCP/ATS/SIS International Sepsis Definitions Conference. Critical care medicine. 2003;31(4):1250-6.
- 42. Levy MM, Fink MP, Marshall JC, Abraham E, Angus D, Cook D, et al. 2001 SCCM/ESICM/ACCP/ATS/SIS International Sepsis Definitions Conference. Critical care medicine. 2003;31(4):1250-6.
- 43. Vincent JL, Rello J, Marshall J, Silva E, Anzueto A, Martin CD, et al. International study of the prevalence and outcomes of infection in intensive care units. Jama. 2009;302(21):2323-9.
- 44. Angus DC, Linde-Zwirble WT, Lidicker J, Clermont G, Carcillo J, Pinsky MR. Epidemiology of severe sepsis in the United States: analysis of incidence, outcome, and associated costs of care. Critical care medicine. 2001;29(7):1303-10.
- 45. Ranieri VM, Thompson BT, Barie PS, Dhainaut JF, Douglas IS, Finfer S, et al. Drotrecogin alfa (activated) in adults with septic shock. The New England journal of medicine. 2012;366(22):2055-64.
- 46. Opal SM, Garber GE, LaRosa SP, Maki DG, Freebairn RC, Kinasewitz GT, et al. Systemic host responses in severe sepsis analyzed by causative microorganism and treatment effects of drotrecogin alfa (activated). Clinical infectious diseases: an official publication of the Infectious Diseases Society of America. 2003;37(1):50-8.
- 47. Bellomo R, Kellum JA, Ronco C. Acute kidney injury. The Lancet. 2012;380(9843):756-66.
- 48. Bellomo R, Ronco C, Kellum JA, Mehta RL, Palevsky P. Acute renal failure definition, outcome measures, animal models, fluid therapy and information technology needs: the Second International Consensus Conference of the Acute Dialysis Quality Initiative (ADQI) Group. Critical care. 2004;8(4):R204-12.
- 49. (2012) KDIGOKAKIWG. KDIGO clinical practice guideline for acute kidney injury. Kidney Inter Suppl. 2012;2(1):138.
- 50. Cartin-Ceba R, Kashiouris M, Plataki M, Kor DJ, Gajic O, Casey ET. Risk factors for development of acute kidney injury in critically ill patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. Critical care research and practice. 2012;2012:691013.
- 51. Schrier RW, Wang W. Acute renal failure and sepsis. The New England journal of medicine. 2004;351(2):159-69.
- 52. Langenberg C, Wan L, Egi M, May CN, Bellomo R. Renal blood flow and function during recovery from experimental septic acute kidney injury. Intensive care medicine. 2007;33(9):1614-8.

- 53. Langenberg C, Gobe G, Hood S, May CN, Bellomo R. Renal histopathology during experimental septic acute kidney injury and recovery. Critical care medicine. 2014;42(1):e58-67.
- 54. Gomez H, Ince C, De Backer D, Pickkers P, Payen D, Hotchkiss J, et al. A unified theory of sepsis-induced acute kidney injury: inflammation, microcirculatory dysfunction, bioenergetics, and the tubular cell adaptation to injury. Shock. 2014;41(1):3-11.
- 55. Pettila V, Bellomo R. Understanding acute kidney injury in sepsis. Intensive care medicine. 2014;40(7):1018-20.
- 56. Zarbock A, Gomez H, Kellum JA. Sepsis-induced acute kidney injury revisited: pathophysiology, prevention and future therapies. Current opinion in critical care. 2014;20(6):588-95.
- 57. Liberati A, Altman DG, Tetzlaff J, Mulrow C, Gøtzsche PC, Ioannidis JPA, et al. The PRISMA Statement for Reporting Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses of Studies That Evaluate Health Care Interventions: Explanation and Elaboration. PLoS Med. 2009;6(7):e1000100.
- 58. Langenberg C, Bellomo R, May C, Wan L, Egi M, Morgera S. Renal blood flow in sepsis. Critical care. 2005;9(4):R363-74.
- 59. Langenberg C, Wan L, Egi M, May CN, Bellomo R. Renal blood flow in experimental septic acute renal failure. Kidney international. 2006;69(11):1996-2002.
- 60. Matejovic M, Radermacher P, Joannidis M. Acute kidney injury in sepsis: is renal blood flow more than just an innocent bystander? Intensive care medicine. 2007;33(9):1498-500.
- 61. Zanotti-Cavazzoni SL, Goldfarb RD. Animal models of sepsis. Critical care clinics. 2009;25(4):703-19, vii-viii.
- 62. Prowle JR, Molan MP, Hornsey E, Bellomo R. Measurement of renal blood flow by phase-contrast magnetic resonance imaging during septic acute kidney injury: a pilot investigation. Critical care medicine. 2012;40(6):1768-76.
- 63. Bellomo R, Wan L, Langenberg C, May C. Septic acute kidney injury: new concepts. Nephron Experimental nephrology. 2008;109(4):e95-100.
- 64. Wan L, Langenberg C, Bellomo R, May CN. Angiotensin II in experimental hyperdynamic sepsis. Critical care. 2009;13(6):R190.
- 65. Redfors B, Bragadottir G, Sellgren J, Sward K, Ricksten SE. Acute renal failure is NOT an "acute renal success"--a clinical study on the renal oxygen supply/demand relationship in acute kidney injury. Critical care medicine. 2010;38(8):1695-701.
- 66. May CN, Ishikawa K, Wan L, Williams J, Wellard RM, Pell GS, et al. Renal bioenergetics during early gram-negative mammalian sepsis and angiotensin II infusion. Intensive care medicine. 2012;38(5):886-93.
- 67. Heemskerk S, Pickkers P, Bouw MP, Draisma A, van der Hoeven JG, Peters WH, et al. Upregulation of renal inducible nitric oxide synthase during human endotoxemia and sepsis is associated with proximal tubule injury.

- Clinical journal of the American Society of Nephrology: CJASN. 2006;1(4):853-62.
- 68. Holmqvist B, Olsson CF, Svensson ML, Svanborg C, Forsell J, Alm P. Expression of nitric oxide synthase isoforms in the mouse kidney: cellular localization and influence by lipopolysaccharide and Toll-like receptor 4. Journal of molecular histology. 2005;36(8-9):499-516.
- 69. Kleinert H, Schwarz PM, Forstermann U. Regulation of the expression of inducible nitric oxide synthase. Biological chemistry. 2003;384(10-11):1343-64.
- 70. Ishikawa K, Calzavacca P, Bellomo R, Bailey M, May CN. Effect of selective inhibition of renal inducible nitric oxide synthase on renal blood flow and function in experimental hyperdynamic sepsis. Critical care medicine. 2012;40(8):2368-75.
- 71. Ishikawa K, Bellomo R, May CN. The impact of intrarenal nitric oxide synthase inhibition on renal blood flow and function in mild and severe hyperdynamic sepsis. Critical care medicine. 2011;39(4):770-6.
- 72. Jacob LP, Chazalet JJ, Payen DM, Villiers SM, Boudaoud S, Teillac P, et al. Renal hemodynamic and functional effect of PEEP ventilation in human renal transplantations. American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine. 1995;152(1):103-7.
- 73. Porta F, Takala J, Weikert C, Bracht H, Kolarova A, Lauterburg BH, et al. Effects of prolonged endotoxemia on liver, skeletal muscle and kidney mitochondrial function. Critical care. 2006;10(4):R118.
- 74. Langenberg C, Bagshaw SM, May CN, Bellomo R. The histopathology of septic acute kidney injury: a systematic review. Critical care. 2008;12(2):R38.
- 75. Lerolle N, Nochy D, Guerot E, Bruneval P, Fagon JY, Diehl JL, et al. Histopathology of septic shock induced acute kidney injury: apoptosis and leukocytic infiltration. Intensive care medicine. 2010;36(3):471-8.
- 76. Takasu O, Gaut JP, Watanabe E, To K, Fagley RE, Sato B, et al. Mechanisms of cardiac and renal dysfunction in patients dying of sepsis. American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine. 2013;187(5):509-17.
- 77. Rosen S, Heyman SN. Difficulties in understanding human "acute tubular necrosis": limited data and flawed animal models. Kidney international. 2001;60(4):1220-4.
- 78. Seely KA, Holthoff JH, Burns ST, Wang Z, Thakali KM, Gokden N, et al. Hemodynamic changes in the kidney in a pediatric rat model of sepsis-induced acute kidney injury. American journal of physiology Renal physiology. 2011;301(1):F209-17.
- 79. Wang Z, Holthoff JH, Seely KA, Pathak E, Spencer HJ, 3rd, Gokden N, et al. Development of oxidative stress in the peritubular capillary microenvironment mediates sepsis-induced renal microcirculatory failure and acute kidney injury. The American journal of pathology. 2012;180(2):505-16.

- 80. De Backer D, Creteur J, Preiser JC, Dubois MJ, Vincent JL. Microvascular blood flow is altered in patients with sepsis. American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine. 2002;166(1):98-104.
- 81. Singer M, De Santis V, Vitale D, Jeffcoate W. Multiorgan failure is an adaptive, endocrine-mediated, metabolic response to overwhelming systemic inflammation. Lancet. 2004;364(9433):545-8.
- 82. Kalakeche R, Hato T, Rhodes G, Dunn KW, El-Achkar TM, Plotkin Z, et al. Endotoxin uptake by S1 proximal tubular segment causes oxidative stress in the downstream S2 segment. Journal of the American Society of Nephrology: JASN. 2011;22(8):1505-16.
- 83. Wu L, Gokden N, Mayeux PR. Evidence for the role of reactive nitrogen species in polymicrobial sepsis-induced renal peritubular capillary dysfunction and tubular injury. Journal of the American Society of Nephrology: JASN. 2007;18(6):1807-15.
- 84. Tiwari MM, Brock RW, Megyesi JK, Kaushal GP, Mayeux PR. Disruption of renal peritubular blood flow in lipopolysaccharide-induced renal failure: role of nitric oxide and caspases. American journal of physiology Renal physiology. 2005;289(6):F1324-32.
- 85. Holthoff JH, Wang Z, Seely KA, Gokden N, Mayeux PR. Resveratrol improves renal microcirculation, protects the tubular epithelium, and prolongs survival in a mouse model of sepsis-induced acute kidney injury. Kidney international. 2012;81(4):370-8.
- 86. Goddard CM, Allard MF, Hogg JC, Herbertson MJ, Walley KR. Prolonged leukocyte transit time in coronary microcirculation of endotoxemic pigs. The American journal of physiology. 1995;269(4 Pt 2):H1389-97.
- 87. Trzeciak S, Cinel I, Phillip Dellinger R, Shapiro NI, Arnold RC, Parrillo JE, et al. Resuscitating the microcirculation in sepsis: the central role of nitric oxide, emerging concepts for novel therapies, and challenges for clinical trials. Academic emergency medicine: official journal of the Society for Academic Emergency Medicine. 2008;15(5):399-413.
- 88. Legrand M, Bezemer R, Kandil A, Demirci C, Payen D, Ince C. The role of renal hypoperfusion in development of renal microcirculatory dysfunction in endotoxemic rats. Intensive care medicine. 2011;37(9):1534-42.
- 89. Bateman RM, Sharpe MD, Ellis CG. Bench-to-bedside review: microvascular dysfunction in sepsis--hemodynamics, oxygen transport, and nitric oxide. Critical care. 2003;7(5):359-73.
- 90. Chvojka J, Sykora R, Krouzecky A, Radej J, Varnerova V, Karvunidis T, et al. Renal haemodynamic, microcirculatory, metabolic and histopathological responses to peritonitis-induced septic shock in pigs. Critical care. 2008;12(6):R164.
- 91. Bezemer R, Legrand M, Klijn E, Heger M, Post IC, van Gulik TM, et al. Real-time assessment of renal cortical microvascular perfusion

- heterogeneities using near-infrared laser speckle imaging. Optics express. 2010;18(14):15054-61.
- 92. Gupta A, Rhodes GJ, Berg DT, Gerlitz B, Molitoris BA, Grinnell BW. Activated protein C ameliorates LPS-induced acute kidney injury and downregulates renal INOS and angiotensin 2. American journal of physiology Renal physiology. 2007;293(1):F245-54.
- 93. Good DW, George T, Watts BA, 3rd. Lipopolysaccharide directly alters renal tubule transport through distinct TLR4-dependent pathways in basolateral and apical membranes. American journal of physiology Renal physiology. 2009;297(4):F866-74.
- 94. Vanhorebeek I, Gunst J, Derde S, Derese I, Boussemaere M, D'Hoore A, et al. Mitochondrial fusion, fission, and biogenesis in prolonged critically ill patients. The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism. 2012;97(1):E59-64.
- 95. Green DR, Galluzzi L, Kroemer G. Mitochondria and the autophagy-inflammation-cell death axis in organismal aging. Science (New York, NY). 2011;333(6046):1109-12.
- 96. Singh P, Okusa MD. The role of tubuloglomerular feedback in the pathogenesis of acute kidney injury. Contributions to nephrology. 2011;174:12-21.
- 97. Schnermann J. Concurrent activation of multiple vasoactive signaling pathways in vasoconstriction caused by tubuloglomerular feedback: a quantitative assessment. Annual review of physiology. 2015;77:301-22.
- 98. Prowle JR, Bellomo R. Sepsis-Associated Acute Kidney Injury: Macrohemodynamic and Microhemodynamic Alterations in the Renal Circulation. Semin Nephrol. 2015;35(1):64-74.
- 99. Fukazawa K, Lee HT. Updates on Hepato-Renal Syndrome. Journal of anesthesia & clinical research. 2013;4(9):352.
- 100. Imai Y, Parodo J, Kajikawa O, de Perrot M, Fischer S, Edwards V, et al. Injurious mechanical ventilation and end-organ epithelial cell apoptosis and organ dysfunction in an experimental model of acute respiratory distress syndrome. Jama. 2003;289(16):2104-12.
- 101. Ranieri VM, Suter PM, Tortorella C, De Tullio R, Dayer JM, Brienza A, et al. Effect of mechanical ventilation on inflammatory mediators in patients with acute respiratory distress syndrome: a randomized controlled trial. Jama. 1999;282(1):54-61.
- 102. Haraldsson B, Jeansson M. Glomerular filtration barrier. Current opinion in nephrology and hypertension. 2009;18(4):331-5.
- 103. De Gaudio AR, Adembri C, Grechi S, Novelli GP. Microalbuminuria as an early index of impairment of glomerular permeability in postoperative septic patients. Intensive care medicine. 2000;26(9):1364-8.

- 104. Adembri C, Sgambati E, Vitali L, Selmi V, Margheri M, Tani A, et al. Sepsis induces albuminuria and alterations in the glomerular filtration barrier: a morphofunctional study in the rat. Critical care. 2011;15(6):R277.
- 105. Schreiber A, Theilig F, Schweda F, Hocherl K. Acute endotoxemia in mice induces downregulation of megalin and cubilin in the kidney. Kidney international. 2012;82(1):53-9.
- 106. Cunningham PN, Dyanov HM, Park P, Wang J, Newell KA, Quigg RJ. Acute renal failure in endotoxemia is caused by TNF acting directly on TNF receptor-1 in kidney. Journal of immunology. 2002;168(11):5817-23.
- 107. Al-Lamki RS, Wang J, Skepper JN, Thiru S, Pober JS, Bradley JR. Expression of tumor necrosis factor receptors in normal kidney and rejecting renal transplants. Laboratory investigation; a journal of technical methods and pathology. 2001;81(11):1503-15.
- 108. Datta K, Li J, Karumanchi SA, Wang E, Rondeau E, Mukhopadhyay D. Regulation of vascular permeability factor/vascular endothelial growth factor (VPF/VEGF-A) expression in podocytes. Kidney international. 2004;66(4):1471-8.
- 109. Roberts WG, Palade GE. Increased microvascular permeability and endothelial fenestration induced by vascular endothelial growth factor. Journal of cell science. 1995;108 (Pt 6):2369-79.
- 110. Pierrakos C, Vincent JL. Sepsis biomarkers: a review. Critical care. 2010;14(1):R15.
- 111. Accili D, Menghi G, Gabrielli MG. Lectin histochemistry for in situ profiling of rat colon sialoglycoconjugates. Histol Histopathol. 2008;23(7):863-75.
- 112. Schauer R. Sialic acids as regulators of molecular and cellular interactions. Curr Opin Struct Biol. 2009;19(5):507-14.
- 113. Harvey SJ, Miner JH. Revisiting the glomerular charge barrier in the molecular era. Current opinion in nephrology and hypertension. 2008;17(4):393-8.
- 114. Garsen M, Rops AL, Rabelink TJ, Berden JH, van der Vlag J. The role of heparanase and the endothelial glycocalyx in the development of proteinuria. Nephrology, dialysis, transplantation: official publication of the European Dialysis and Transplant Association European Renal Association. 2014;29(1):49-55.
- 115. Reiser J, von Gersdorff G, Loos M, Oh J, Asanuma K, Giardino L, et al. Induction of B7-1 in podocytes is associated with nephrotic syndrome. The Journal of clinical investigation. 2004;113(10):1390-7.
- 116. Karumanchi SA, Maynard SE, Stillman IE, Epstein FH, Sukhatme VP. Preeclampsia: a renal perspective. Kidney international. 2005;67(6):2101-13.
- 117. Weil EJ, Lemley KV, Mason CC, Yee B, Jones LI, Blouch K, et al. Podocyte detachment and reduced glomerular capillary endothelial fenestration

- promote kidney disease in type 2 diabetic nephropathy. Kidney international. 2012;82(9):1010-7.
- 118. Donati A, Domizi R, Damiani E, Adrario E, Pelaia P, Ince C. From macrohemodynamic to the microcirculation. Critical care research and practice. 2013;2013:892710.
- 119. Salmon AH, Satchell SC. Endothelial glycocalyx dysfunction in disease: albuminuria and increased microvascular permeability. The Journal of pathology. 2012;226(4):562-74.
- 120. Chelazzi C, Villa G, Mancinelli P, De Gaudio AR, Adembri C. Glycocalyx and sepsis-induced alterations in vascular permeability. Critical care. 2015;19(1):741.
- 121. Woodcock TE, Woodcock TM. Revised Starling equation and the glycocalyx model of transvascular fluid exchange: an improved paradigm for prescribing intravenous fluid therapy. Br J Anaesth. 2012;108(3):384-94.
- 122. Moseley R, Waddington RJ, Embery G. Degradation of glycosaminoglycans by reactive oxygen species derived from stimulated polymorphonuclear leukocytes. Biochimica et biophysica acta. 1997;1362(2-3):221-31.
- 123. Henry CB, Duling BR. TNF-alpha increases entry of macromolecules into luminal endothelial cell glycocalyx. American journal of physiology Heart and circulatory physiology. 2000;279(6):H2815-23.
- 124. Singh A, Ramnath RD, Foster RR, Wylie EC, Friden V, Dasgupta I, et al. Reactive oxygen species modulate the barrier function of the human glomerular endothelial glycocalyx. PloS one. 2013;8(2):e55852.
- 125. Chappell D, Hofmann-Kiefer K, Jacob M, Rehm M, Briegel J, Welsch U, et al. TNF-alpha induced shedding of the endothelial glycocalyx is prevented by hydrocortisone and antithrombin. Basic research in cardiology. 2009;104(1):78-89.
- 126. Rehm M, Bruegger D, Christ F, Conzen P, Thiel M, Jacob M, et al. Shedding of the endothelial glycocalyx in patients undergoing major vascular surgery with global and regional ischemia. Circulation. 2007;116(17):1896-906.
- 127. Singh A, Satchell SC, Neal CR, McKenzie EA, Tooke JE, Mathieson PW. Glomerular endothelial glycocalyx constitutes a barrier to protein permeability. Journal of the American Society of Nephrology: JASN. 2007;18(11):2885-93.
- 128. Mulivor AW, Lipowsky HH. Role of glycocalyx in leukocyte-endothelial cell adhesion. American journal of physiology Heart and circulatory physiology. 2002;283(4):H1282-91.
- 129. Constantinescu AA, Vink H, Spaan JA. Endothelial cell glycocalyx modulates immobilization of leukocytes at the endothelial surface. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2003;23(9):1541-7.

- 130. Zarbock A, Ley K. Mechanisms and consequences of neutrophil interaction with the endothelium. The American journal of pathology. 2008;172(1):1-7.
- 131. Wiesinger A, Peters W, Chappell D, Kentrup D, Reuter S, Pavenstadt H, et al. Nanomechanics of the endothelial glycocalyx in experimental sepsis. PloS one. 2013;8(11):e80905.
- 132. Nieuwdorp M, Meuwese MC, Mooij HL, van Lieshout MH, Hayden A, Levi M, et al. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha inhibition protects against endotoxin-induced endothelial glycocalyx perturbation. Atherosclerosis. 2009;202(1):296-303.
- 133. Marechal X, Favory R, Joulin O, Montaigne D, Hassoun S, Decoster B, et al. Endothelial glycocalyx damage during endotoxemia coincides with microcirculatory dysfunction and vascular oxidative stress. Shock. 2008;29(5):572-6.
- 134. Schmidt EP, Yang Y, Janssen WJ, Gandjeva A, Perez MJ, Barthel L, et al. The pulmonary endothelial glycocalyx regulates neutrophil adhesion and lung injury during experimental sepsis. Nature medicine. 2012;18(8):1217-23.
- 135. Johansson PI, Stensballe J, Rasmussen LS, Ostrowski SR. High circulating adrenaline levels at admission predict increased mortality after trauma. J Trauma Acute Care Surg. 2012;72(2):428-36.
- 136. Lote CJ. Principles of Renal Physiology: Springer; 2012.
- 137. Esson ML, Schrier RW. Diagnosis and treatment of acute tubular necrosis. Annals of internal medicine. 2002;137(9):744-52.
- 138. Miller TR, Anderson RJ, Linas SL, Henrich WL, Berns AS, Gabow PA, et al. Urinary diagnostic indices in acute renal failure: a prospective study. Annals of internal medicine. 1978;89(1):47-50.
- 139. Carvounis CP, Nisar S, Guro-Razuman S. Significance of the fractional excretion of urea in the differential diagnosis of acute renal failure. Kidney international. 2002;62(6):2223-9.
- 140. du Cheyron D, Daubin C, Poggioli J, Ramakers M, Houillier P, Charbonneau P, et al. Urinary measurement of Na+/H+ exchanger isoform 3 (NHE3) protein as new marker of tubule injury in critically ill patients with ARF. American journal of kidney diseases: the official journal of the National Kidney Foundation. 2003;42(3):497-506.
- 141. Bagshaw SM, Langenberg C, Bellomo R. Urinary Biochemistry and Microscopy in Septic Acute Renal Failure: A Systematic Review. American Journal of Kidney Diseases. 2006;48(5):695-705.
- 142. Espinel CH. The FENa test. Use in the differential diagnosis of acute renal failure. Jama. 1976;236(6):579-81.
- 143. Hall IE, Coca SG, Perazella MA, Eko UU, Luciano RL, Peter PR, et al. Risk of poor outcomes with novel and traditional biomarkers at clinical AKI diagnosis. Clinical journal of the American Society of Nephrology: CJASN. 2011;6(12):2740-9.

- 144. Langenberg C, Wan L, Bagshaw SM, Egi M, May CN, Bellomo R. Urinary biochemistry in experimental septic acute renal failure. Nephrology, dialysis, transplantation: official publication of the European Dialysis and Transplant Association European Renal Association. 2006;21(12):3389-97.
- 145. Prowle J, Bagshaw SM, Bellomo R. Renal blood flow, fractional excretion of sodium and acute kidney injury: time for a new paradigm? Current opinion in critical care. 2012;18(6):585-92.
- 146. Bagshaw SM, Delaney A, Haase M, Ghali WA, Bellomo R. Loop diuretics in the management of acute renal failure: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Crit Care Resusc. 2007;9(1):60-8.
- 147. Cantarovich F, Rangoonwala B, Lorenz H, Verho M, Esnault VL. High-dose furosemide for established ARF: a prospective, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, multicenter trial. American journal of kidney diseases: the official journal of the National Kidney Foundation. 2004;44(3):402-9.
- 148. Haraldsson BS. The endothelium as part of the integrative glomerular barrier complex. Kidney international. 2014;85(1):8-11.
- 149. Murugan R, Karajala-Subramanyam V, Lee M, Yende S, Kong L, Carter M, et al. Acute kidney injury in non-severe pneumonia is associated with an increased immune response and lower survival. Kidney international. 2010;77(6):527-35.